Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 13, 2018 ACCEPTED: December 18, 2018 PUBLISHED: January 8, 2019

Lifting of D1-D5-P states

Shaun Hampton,^a Samir D. Mathur^a and Ida G. Zadeh^b

^aDepartment of Physics, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, U.S.A.

^bDepartment of Mathematics, ETH Zurich, CH-8092 Zurich, Switzerland

E-mail: hampton.197@osu.edu, mathur.16@osu.edu, zadeh@math.ethz.ch

ABSTRACT: We consider states of the D1-D5 CFT where only the left-moving sector is excited. As we deform away from the orbifold point, some of these states will remain BPS while others can 'lift'. We compute this lifting for a particular family of D1-D5-P states, at second order in the deformation off the orbifold point. We note that the maximally twisted sector of the CFT is special: the covering surface appearing in the correlator can only be genus one while for other sectors there is always a genus zero contribution. We use the results to argue that fuzzball configurations should be studied for the full class including both extremal and near-extremal states; many extremal configurations may be best seen as special limits of near extremal configurations.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Conformal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1804.10097



Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 The D1-D5 CFT	2
	1.2 The states of interest	2
	1.3 The results	4
	1.4 The plan of the paper	4
2	Outline of the method	5
	2.1 Conformal perturbation theory on the cylinder	5
	2.2 The general expression for lifting at second order	9
3	Setting up the computation	13
	3.1 The deformation operator	13
	3.2 The states	14
4	The vacuum correlator	15
	4.1 The map to the covering space	16
	4.2 The 'base' amplitude	16
	4.3 The complete vacuum amplitude	18
5	Lifting of D1-D5-P states	19
	5.1 Computing $T^{(1)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}(w_2,w_1)$	20
	5.2 Computing the remaining $T^{(j)(i)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}$	22
	5.3 Computing $X^{(m)}(T)$ for m even	23
	5.4 Computing $X^{(m)}(T)$ for m odd	26
	5.5 Expectation values	26
6	No lift for global modes	27
7	General values of N	29
	7.1 The initial state	30
	7.2 Action of the deformation operator	30
	7.3 Expectation values for general values of N	30
8	Multi-wound initial states	32
	8.1 The action of the twist operator	33
	8.2 The k -fold cover of the cylinder	33
9	The maximally wound sector	35
10) Discussion	37

\mathbf{A}	Not	ation and conventions	39
	A.1	Field definitions	39
	A.2	OPE algebra	40
		A.2.1 OPE's of currents with $\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(z)$ and $\psi^{\alpha A}(z)$	40
		A.2.2 OPE's of currents with currents	40
	A.3	Mode and contour definitions of the fields	41
	A.4	Commutation relations	41
		A.4.1 Commutators of $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$	41
		A.4.2 Commutators of currents with $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$	42
		A.4.3 Commutators of currents with currents	42
	A.5	Current modes written in terms of $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$	42
в	Spe	ctral flow	43

1 Introduction

One of the most useful examples of a black hole is the hole made with D1, D5, and P charges in string theory. The microscopic entropy for these charges, S_{micro} , agrees with the Bekenstein entropy, S_{bek} , obtained from the classical gravity solution with the same charges [1, 2]. Further, a weak coupling computation of radiation from the branes, Γ_{micro} , agrees with the Hawking radiation from the gravitational solution, Γ_{hawking} [3, 4].

 AdS_3/CFT_2 duality [5–7] states that the near horizon dynamics of the black hole is described by a 1+1 dimensional CFT called the D1-D5 CFT. The momentum charge P is carried by left moving excitations of this CFT. The CFT has a 'free point' called the 'orbifold CFT', where the theory can be described using free bosons and free fermions on a set of twisted sectors [8–14], see [15] for a review of the D1-D5 brane system.

At the orbifold point all states which have only left moving excitations are BPS; i.e. they have energy equal to their charge. This need not be true as we deform the theory along some direction in the moduli space of the D1-D5 CFT. Some of the states which were BPS at the orbifold point will remain BPS, while others can pair up and 'lift'.

In this paper we will look at a specific family of D1-D5-P states which are BPS at the orbifold point but which lift as we move away from this free point towards the supergravity description of the black hole. We use conformal perturbation theory to compute the lifting at quadratic order in the coupling λ . The form of this lifting will tell us about the behavior of string states in the gravity dual, and shed light on the nature of the fuzzball configurations that describe black hole microstates [16–20].

We now summarize the set-up and the main results.



Figure 1. (a) N singly-wound component strings in their vacuum state wrapping the S^1 ; this gives the vacuum of the theory. (b) n of these N copies have been excited by the application of current operators.

1.1 The D1-D5 CFT

We consider type IIB string theory compactified as

$$M_{9,1} \to M_{4,1} \times S^1 \times T^4 . \tag{1.1}$$

We wrap n_1 D1 branes on S^1 and n_5 D5 branes on $S^1 \times T^4$. The bound states of these branes generate the D1-D5 CFT, which is a 1+1 dimensional field theory living on the cylinder made from the S^1 and time directions. This theory is believed to have an orbifold point, where we have

$$N = n_1 n_5 \tag{1.2}$$

copies of a c = 6 free CFT. The free CFT is made of 4 free bosons and 4 free fermions in the left-moving sector and likewise in the right-moving sector. The free fields are subject to an orbifold symmetry generated by the group of permutations S_N ; this leads to various twisted sectors around the circle S^1 . The field theory is a CFT with small $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetry in each of the left and right-moving sectors; thus the left sector has chiral algebra generators $L_n, G_{\dot{A},r}^{\pm}, J_n^a$ associated with the stress-energy tensor, the supercurrents, and the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ R-currents (the right-moving sector has analogous generators). The small $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superconformal algebra and our notations are outlined in appendix A.

1.2 The states of interest

Consider the untwisted sector, i.e. the sector where each copy of the c = 6 CFT is singly wound around the S^1 . The N copies of the c = 6 CFT can be depicted by N separate circles; we sketch this in figure 1. We consider the NS sector. If all the copies are unexcited, we get the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ as shown in the left panel of the figure; the gravity dual of this state is $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times T^4$.

We will now consider a set of excited states, proceeding in the following steps:

(i) Consider the state where N - 1 copies are in the NS vacuum state, and one of the copies is excited by application of the operator

$$J_{-(2m-1)}^+ \dots J_{-3}^+ J_{-1}^+ \tag{1.3}$$

on the NS vacuum. This is illustrated in the right panel of figure 1. At the orbifold point this operator has quantum numbers

$$(h,\bar{h}) = (m^2,0), \qquad (j,\bar{j}) = (m,0).$$
 (1.4)

Thus the energy of the state at the orbifold point is

$$E_{\text{orbifold}} = h + \bar{h} = m^2 . \tag{1.5}$$

At the orbifold point, the excitation is BPS since the right movers of the CFT are in the supersymmetric ground state on all copies.

We will argue that when we move to the supergravity domain, this state can be heuristically described by a string localized at the center of the AdS space. Because the excitation is a string rather than a supergravity quantum, the energy will change away from the orbifold point (1.5); we write the extra energy as

$$E - E_{\text{orbifold}} = \Delta E$$
 . (1.6)

(ii) Suppose we place the excitation (1.3) on *two* copies of the CFT. At the orbifold point we have

$$(h,\bar{h}) = (2m^2,0), \qquad (j,\bar{j}) = (2m,0), \qquad (1.7)$$

and

$$E_{\text{orbifold}} = 2m^2 . \tag{1.8}$$

At the supergravity point in the dual theory, our heuristic picture will have *two* strings placed at the center of AdS. Each string will have an extra energy ΔE as before. But there will also be some gravitational attraction between these strings, which will lower the energy by some amount ΔE_{grav} . This suggests that the energy at the supergravity point will have the schematic form

$$E - E_{\text{orbifold}} = 2\Delta E - E_{\text{grav}}$$
 (1.9)

(iii) Now suppose we place the excitation (1.3) on n out the the N copies. In the dual gravity description we have n strings. We get a positive energy from each of the n strings, and a negative contribution to the energy from the attraction between each pair of strings. Thus the total energy has the schematic form

$$E_n - E_{\text{orbifold},n} = n\Delta E - \frac{n(n-1)}{2}E_{\text{grav}}, \qquad (1.10)$$

where we have added a subscript n to the energies to indicate the number of copies which have been excited.

(iv) Finally we place the excitation (1.3) on *all* the N copies of the c = 6 CFT. In this situation we know the energy E exactly, because this state is obtained by a spectral flow of the vacuum by 2m units. We have

$$E_N - E_{\text{orbifold},N} = 0 \tag{1.11}$$

To summarize, the quantity $E_n - E_{\text{orbifold},n}$ should have the schematic behavior depicted in figure 2: it vanishes at n = 0, rises for low values of n, then falls back to zero at n = N.



Figure 2. A schematic plot showing the energy lift when n out of the N copies of the c = 6 CFT are excited. The lift vanishes when n = 0 and when n = N: the n = 0 state is the vacuum and the n = N state is a spectral flow of the vacuum.

1.3 The results

In this paper we study the deformation of the D1-D5 CFT off the orbifold point towards the supergravity point, upto second order in the coupling λ . We show that, at this order, the energy E_n of the family of the states we consider in eq. (1.3) indeed has the form depicted in figure 2:

$$\langle (E_n - E_{\text{orbifold}}) \rangle = \lambda^2 \frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2} \frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]} n(N - n),$$
 (1.12)

where m is the number of the R-currents in the initial state (1.3), see section 7 for details.

We also consider the case where the N copies of the CFT are grouped into twist sectors with winding k each, and then excited in a manner similar to that discussed above, We again find an expression of the energy lift of the form (1.12).

Finally, we note a general property of the computation of lifting at second order. If the deformation operators join two component strings and then break them apart, the covering surface arising in the computation has genus 0. If on the other hand the deformation operators break and then rejoin a component string, the covering space arising in the computation has genus 1. The maximally twisted sector can only exhibit the second possibility; this suggests that the large class of unlifted states needed to explain black hole entropy may lie in this sector.

There are several earlier works that have studied conformal perturbation theory, the lifting of the states, the acquiring of anomalous dimensions, and the issue of operator mixing, in particular in the context of the D1-D5 CFT. In particular, [21] studied the lifting of states in the pp-wave limit, and matched the results to a computation using string states on AdS. For other related computations, see for example [22–37].

1.4 The plan of the paper

In section 2 we outline the computation that gives the lift to second order; in particular we explain why the issue of operator renormalization does not arise to this order in our problem. In section 3 we describe the deformation operator and the states whose lift we are interested in.

In section 4 we compute the vacuum correlation function of two twist-2 operators; we call this the 'base' amplitude, as it appears as a starting element in the computation of all other correlation functions.

In section 5 we compute the lifting of energies of the states under consideration.

In section 6 we consider global modes and use our approach to show that they are not lifted under conformal perturbation, to the order we study, as expected.

In section 7 we perform the needed combinatorics to extend our result to the case where we have an arbitrary number N of component strings.

In section 8 we compute the lift for the case where the component strings on the initial state are grouped into sets with twist k each.

In section 9 we analyze the nature of the covering space in different instances of second order perturbation theory, and find a special role for the maximally twisted sector.

Section 10 is a general discussion, where we state the physical implications of our results.

2 Outline of the method

In this section we first outline the conformal perturbation theory approach that we will use to compute the lifting of energies. We then derive a general expression for lifting to second order.

2.1 Conformal perturbation theory on the cylinder

We proceed in the following steps:

(a) Suppose we have a conformal field ϕ with left and right-moving dimensions (h, 0). On the plane, the 2-point function is

$$\langle \phi(z)\phi(0)\rangle_0 = \frac{1}{z^h}\,,\tag{2.1}$$

where the subscript "0" corresponds to the unperturbed theory. After a perturbation of the CFT, the conformal dimensions can change to $(h + \delta h, \delta h)$. The left and right dimensions must increase by the same amount, since $h - \bar{h}$ must always be an integer for the operator to be local. The operator $\tilde{\phi}$ in the perturbed theory, having a well defined dimension, will also in general be different from ϕ . So we should write

$$\phi = \tilde{\phi} + \delta \tilde{\phi} . \tag{2.2}$$

We will see, however, that to the order where we will be working, the correction $\delta\phi$ will not be relevant (see eqs. (2.16), (2.23), (2.25), and footnote 1). We can then write

$$\langle \phi(z)\phi(0) \rangle_{\text{pert}} = \frac{1}{z^h} \frac{1}{|z|^{2\delta h}} = \frac{1}{z^h} e^{-2\delta h \log|z|} \approx \frac{1}{z^h} (1 - 2\delta h \log|z|), \quad (2.3)$$

where the subscript "pert" corresponds to the perturbed theory. Thus the perturbation to the 2-point function has a correction term of the form $\sim z^{-h} \log |z|$, and the perturbation to the dimension δh can be read off from the coefficient of this term. For more details on the analyses of conformal perturbation theory in two and higher dimensional CFTs see, e.g. [38–45].

(b) We will find it convenient to work on the cylinder rather than the plane, so let us see how the expressions in (a) change when we work on the cylinder. The cylinder coordinate is given by

$$z = e^w, \quad w = \tau + i\sigma \ . \tag{2.4}$$

Consider the state $|\phi\rangle$ corresponding to the operator ϕ ; we assume that this state is normalized as

$$\langle \phi | \phi \rangle_0 = 1 \ . \tag{2.5}$$

As will become clear below, we can ignore the change $\delta \tilde{\phi}$ in this state itself. Let us also assume for the moment that the energy level of ϕ is nondegenerate. We place the state $|\phi\rangle$ at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$ and the conjugate state $\langle \phi |$ at $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$. We compute the amplitude A(T) for transition between these two states. In the unperturbed theory, we have for our operator ϕ with dimensions (h, 0):

$$A(T) = \langle \phi | e^{-H^{(0)}T} | \phi \rangle = e^{-hT}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where the energy of the state is $E = h + \bar{h} = h$, and $H^{(0)}$ is the Hamiltonian in the unperturbed theory. After the perturbation, we get

$$A(T) + \delta A(T) = \langle \phi | e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H)T} | \phi \rangle = e^{-(h + 2\delta h)T} \approx e^{-hT} - 2\delta h T e^{-hT} .$$
(2.7)

Thus, we can read off δh from the coefficient of Te^{-hT} in $\delta A(T)$.

(c) With these preliminaries, we now set up the formalism for situation that we actually have. In our problem, the space of operators with dimension (h, 0) is degenerate. Thus, we consider the case where we have operators $\phi_a, a = 1, \ldots, n$, all with the same dimension (h, 0). Let the remaining operators having well defined scaling dimensions be called ϕ_{μ} ; there will in general be an infinite number of the $\phi_{\mu}(\lambda)$, with dimensions going all the way to infinity. These operators are normalized as

$$\langle \phi_a | \phi_b \rangle = \delta_{ab} , \qquad \langle \phi_\mu | \phi_\nu \rangle = \delta_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \langle \phi_a | \phi_\mu \rangle = 0 .$$
 (2.8)

After the perturbations, there will be a different set of operators which have well defined scaling dimensions; let these operators be denoted by a tilde on top. We separate these operators into two classes. The first class is the operators that are deformations of the degenerate set $\phi_a, a = 1, \ldots n$. We call these deformed operators $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}(\lambda), a' = 1, \ldots n$, where we have explicitly noted the dependence of these operators on the coupling λ . The second class is comprised of the remaining operators in the

deformed theory which have well defined scaling dimensions; let us call these $\phi_{\mu}(\lambda)$. We assume that these operators are normalized

$$\langle \tilde{\phi}_{a'}(\lambda) | \tilde{\phi}_{b'}(\lambda) \rangle = \delta_{a'b'} , \qquad \langle \tilde{\phi}_{\mu}(\lambda) | \tilde{\phi}_{\nu}(\lambda) \rangle = \delta_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \langle \tilde{\phi}_{a'}(\lambda) | \tilde{\phi}_{\mu}(\lambda) \rangle = 0 .$$
 (2.9)

The $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}$ have conformal dimensions of $(h + \delta h_{a'}(\lambda), \delta h_{a'}(\lambda))$. The energies of the unperturbed states $\phi_{a'}$ and the perturbed states $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}$ are therefore

$$E = h + \bar{h} = h$$
, $\tilde{E}_{a'} = h + 2\delta h_{a'}(\lambda)$, (2.10)

We expand the perturbed energies as

$$\tilde{E}_{a'}(\lambda) = E + \lambda E_{a'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 E_{a'}^{(2)} + \cdots, \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\tilde{E}_{\mu'} = E_{\mu'} + \lambda E_{\mu'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 E_{\mu'}^{(2)} + \cdots$$
(2.12)

Let us now consider the expansions of operators themselves. We can write

$$\tilde{\phi}_{a'}(\lambda) = \tilde{C}_{a'a}(\lambda)\phi_a + \tilde{D}_{a'\mu}(\lambda)\phi_\mu,
\tilde{\phi}_{\mu'}(\lambda) = \tilde{F}_{\mu'a}(\lambda)\phi_a + \tilde{G}_{\mu'\nu}(\lambda)\phi_\nu,$$
(2.13)

where $\tilde{C}_{a'a}$, $\tilde{D}_{a'\mu}$, $\tilde{F}_{\mu'a}$, and $\tilde{G}_{\mu'\nu}$ are λ -dependent expansion coefficients. We can invert these expansions to write

$$\phi_{a} = C_{aa'}(\lambda)\phi_{a'}(\lambda) + D_{a\mu'}(\lambda)\phi_{\mu'}(\lambda),$$

$$\phi_{\mu} = F_{\mu a'}(\lambda)\tilde{\phi}_{a'}(\lambda) + G_{\mu\nu'}(\lambda)\tilde{\phi}_{\nu'}(\lambda). \qquad (2.14)$$

Finally, we expand the coefficients above in powers of λ :

$$C_{aa'}(\lambda) = C_{aa'}^{(0)} + \lambda C_{aa'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 C_{aa'}^{(2)} + \dots$$

$$D_{a\mu'}(\lambda) = D_{a\mu'}^{(0)} + \lambda D_{a\mu'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 D_{a\mu'}^{(2)} + \dots$$
(2.15)

Thus, in particular ϕ_a can be expanded as

$$\phi_a = C_{aa'}^{(0)} \tilde{\phi}_{a'} + \lambda C_{aa'}^{(1)} \tilde{\phi}_{a'} + \lambda^2 C_{aa'}^{(2)} \tilde{\phi}_{a'} + \dots + \lambda D_{a\mu}^{(1)} \tilde{\phi}_{\mu} + \dots$$
(2.16)

The condition (2.8) gives at leading order

$$C_{aa'}^{(0)}C_{ba'}^{(0)*} = \delta_{ab} \ . \tag{2.17}$$

The reason all these preliminaries are needed is that when computing an amplitude in perturbation theory we find ourselves in the following situation. The operators in the amplitude are taken to be the unperturbed operators ϕ_a, ϕ_μ , since these are the ones with well understood and explicit constructions. But the operators that have well defined scaling dimensions are the $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}, \tilde{\phi}_{\mu'}$, which are not explicitly known. Thus we would compute an amplitude of the type

$$A_{ab}(T) \equiv \left\langle \phi_b\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda))T} \right| \phi_a\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle.$$
(2.18)

Here the operators ϕ_a, ϕ_b are operators in the unperturbed theory, and therefore explicitly known to us. But these unperturbed operators do not give eigenstates of the full Hamiltonian $H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda)$; the latter eigenstates correspond to the perturbed operators $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}, \tilde{\phi}_{\mu'}$. Thus we have

$$\langle \tilde{\phi}_{b'} \left(\frac{T}{2} \right) \left| e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda))T} \right| \tilde{\phi}_{a'} \left(-\frac{T}{2} \right) \right\rangle = e^{-\tilde{E}_{a'}T} \delta_{a'b'},$$

$$\langle \tilde{\phi}_{\nu'} \left(\frac{T}{2} \right) \left| e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda))T} \right| \tilde{\phi}_{\mu'} \left(-\frac{T}{2} \right) \right\rangle = e^{-\tilde{E}_{\mu'}T} \delta_{\mu'\nu'},$$

$$\langle \tilde{\phi}_{a'} \left(\frac{T}{2} \right) \left| e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda))T} \right| \tilde{\phi}_{\mu'} \left(-\frac{T}{2} \right) \right\rangle = 0.$$

$$(2.19)$$

Substituting the expansions (2.16) in eq. (2.18), we find

$$A_{ab}(T) \equiv \left\langle \phi_b \left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| e^{-(H^{(0)} + \delta H(\lambda))T} \right| \phi_a \left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle$$

= $\left(C_{ba'}^{(0)*} + \lambda C_{ba'}^{(1)*} + \lambda^2 C_{ba'}^{(2)*} + \dots \right) \left(C_{aa'}^{(0)} + \lambda C_{aa'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 C_{aa'}^{(2)} + \dots \right)$
 $\times e^{-(E + \lambda E_{a'}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 E_{a'}^{(2)} + \dots)T}$
 $+ \lambda^2 D_{b\mu}^{(1)*} D_{a\mu}^{(1)} e^{-(E_{\mu} + \lambda E_{\mu}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 E_{\mu}^{(2)} + \dots)T} + \dots$ (2.20)

In general amplitudes like $A_{ab}(T)$ are functions of the fields like ϕ_a, ϕ_b placed at the upper and lower time slices, the time interval T between the slices, and the coupling λ . From the set of such amplitudes, we can extract the perturbed dimensions of the theory. We will do this below, but first we note that it is convenient to expand the above amplitude in powers of λ

$$A_{ab}(T) = A_{ab}^{(0)} + \lambda A_{ab}^{(1)} + \lambda^2 A_{ab}^{(2)} + \cdots$$
 (2.21)

(d) We first look at the coefficient of $\lambda T e^{-ET}$ in (2.20). This coefficient is found to be

$$-C_{aa'}^{(0)}E_{a'}^{(1)}C_{ba'}^{(0)*}.$$
(2.22)

We can write the above relation in matrix form, defining $(\hat{A}^{(1)})_{ab} = A^{(1)}_{ab}$, $(\hat{C}^{(0)})_{aa'} = C^{(0)}_{aa'}$, and $(\hat{E}^{(1)})_{a'b'} = \delta_{a'b'}E^{(1)}_{a'}$. This gives

$$\hat{A}^{(1)} \to -Te^{-ET}\hat{C}^{(0)}\hat{E}^{(1)}\hat{C}^{(0)\dagger}$$
 (2.23)

where the arrow indicates that we are writing only the coefficient of Te^{-ET} in $\hat{A}^{(1)}$.

We now note that, in our problem, the amplitude $A_{ab}(T)$ has no terms at $O(\lambda)$. This is because, as we will see in the next subsection, the deformation operator D which perturbs the theory away from the orbifold point is in the twist 2 sector, while the states $|\phi_a\rangle$ and $|\phi_b\rangle$ are in the untwisted sector. The 3-point function $\langle \phi_b | D | \phi_a \rangle$ then vanishes due to the orbifold group selection rules. From eq. (2.17) we see that \hat{C} is unitary. Thus the vanishing of the above contribution tells us that $\hat{E}^{(1)} = 0$; i.e. $E_{a'}^{(1)} = 0$ for all $a' \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Now we look at the coefficient of $\lambda^2 T e^{-ET}$ in $A_{ab}(T)$ in eq. (2.20). We find

$$A_{ab}^{(2)} \to -Te^{-ET} \left(C_{aa'}^{(0)} C_{ba'}^{(0)*} E_{a'}^{(2)} \right) .$$
(2.24)

In matrix form, this reads

$$\hat{A}^{(2)} \to -Te^{-ET}\hat{C}^{(0)}\hat{E}^{(2)}\hat{C}^{(0)\dagger}$$
 (2.25)

Thus, if we compute the matrix $\hat{A}^{(2)}$ and look at the coefficient of $-Te^{-ET}$, then the eigenvalues of this matrix give the corrections to the energies up to $O(\lambda^2)$:

$$E_{a'}^{(2)} = 2\delta h_{a'} \,, \tag{2.26}$$

and the eigenvectors give the linear combinations of the ϕ_a which correspond to operators with definite conformal dimensions.¹

(e) In our system, we have states $|\Phi^{(m)}\rangle$ labelled by a parameter $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, see eq. (1.3). As we go to higher m, the number of states with the same conformal dimensions as $|\Phi^{(m)}\rangle$ increases; in fact even for the lowest interesting value, m = 2, the number of degenerate states is large enough to make the computation of the matrix $A_{ab}^{(2)}$ difficult. We will be interested in computing something a bit different. The state $|\Phi^{(m)}\rangle$ of interest to us is one of the states $|\phi_a\rangle$; let us call it $|\phi_1\rangle$. Then we compute the quantity $A_{11}^{(2)}$ in eq. (2.24). From (2.25) we see that the coefficient of $-Te^{-ET}$ in $\hat{A}^{(2)}$ is

$$\sum_{a'} |C_{1a'}|^2 E_{a'}^{(2)} = \sum_{a'} |\langle \tilde{\phi}_{a'} | \phi_1 \rangle|^2 E_{a'}^{(2)} .$$
(2.27)

Thus we get the *expectation value* of the increase in energy for the state $|\phi_1\rangle = |\Phi^{(m)}\rangle$. Computing this quantity will allow us to make our arguments about the nature of lifting of string states.

2.2 The general expression for lifting at second order

In the above discussion we have expressed the amplitude A_{ab} in eq. (2.21) in terms of Hamiltonian evolution. But we will actually compute A_{ab} using path integrals, since the perturbation is known as a change to the Lagrangian rather than a change to the Hamiltonian:

$$S_0 \to S_{\text{pert}} = S_0 + \lambda \int d^2 w D(w, \bar{w}) , \qquad (2.28)$$

where $D(w, \bar{w})$ is an exactly marginal operator deforming the CFT. As mentioned before, $A_{ab}^{(1)} = 0$, see the discussion below eq. (2.23). We will work with the next order, where we have

$$A_{ab}^{(2)}(T) = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \phi_b\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| \left(\int d^2 w_2 D(w_2, \bar{w}_2) \right) \left(\int d^2 w_1 D(w_1, \bar{w}_1) \right) \right| \phi_a\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle, \quad (2.29)$$

¹We note that, as mentioned below eq. (2.5), $\delta \tilde{\phi}$ defined in eq. (2.2) does not appear in the expectation value up to second order in perturbation theory. $\delta \tilde{\phi}$ corresponds to the terms with the $C^{(i)}$ and $D^{(i)}$ $(i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0})$ coefficients in eq. (2.16) and do not appear at the first and second order amplitudes in eqs. (2.23) and (2.25), respectively.

where the range of the w_i integrals are

$$0 \le \sigma_i < 2\pi, \quad -\frac{T}{2} < \tau_i < \frac{T}{2}$$
 (2.30)

Before proceeding, we write the initial and final states in a convenient form. The local operators like $J^a(w)$ in the CFT depend on time τ . Thus if we create the state $|\psi_a\rangle$ by the application of such an operator, then the value of τ at the point of application is relevant. But if we expand in modes $J^a(w) = \sum_n J^a_n e^{nw}$, then the operators J^a_n do not have the information about the point of application. It is convenient to write the state in terms of mode operators like J^a_n , and so we need to factor out the τ -dependence explicitly.

For $\tau < -\frac{T}{2}$, the state is the NS vacuum $|0\rangle$. Suppose that the state created at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$ has energy E. Then we have

$$\left|\phi\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right)\right\rangle = e^{-\frac{ET}{2}}\left|\Phi\right\rangle,\tag{2.31}$$

where the state $|\Phi\rangle$ is written with upper case letters: this will denote the fact that this state is made from modes like J_n^a which have no τ -dependence. Similarly, the final state is

$$\left\langle \phi\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \right| = e^{-\frac{ET}{2}} \left\langle \Phi \right|$$
 (2.32)

Eq. (2.29) then reads:

$$A_{ab}^{(2)}(T) = \frac{1}{2} e^{-ET} \left\langle \Phi_b\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| \left(\int d^2 w_2 D(w_2, \bar{w}_2) \right) \left(\int d^2 w_1 D(w_1, \bar{w}_1) \right) \right| \Phi_a\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle.$$
(2.33)

To compute $A_{ab}^{(2)}$, we proceed as follows:

(a) Since Φ_a has the same energy as Φ_b , the integrand depends only on

$$\Delta w = w_2 - w_1 \ . \tag{2.34}$$

It would be convenient if we could write the integrals over w_1, w_2 as an integral over Δw , and factor out the integral over

$$s = \frac{1}{2}(w_1 + w_2) . (2.35)$$

We cannot immediately do this, however, as the ranges of the τ_i integrals given in (2.30) do not factor into a range for Δw and a range for s. But for our case, we will see that we *can* obtain the needed factorization by taking the limit $T \to \infty$.

Suppose that $w_1 < w_2$. In the region $-\frac{T}{2} < \tau < \tau_1$, we have the state Φ_a , and Hamiltonian evolution gives the factor $\sim e^{-E\tau}$. Similarly, in the region $\tau_2 < \tau < \frac{T}{2}$, we have the state Φ_b , and Hamiltonian evolution gives $\sim e^{-E\tau}$. In the region $\tau_1 < \tau < \tau_2$, we have a state Φ_k with energy E_k , giving a factor $\sim e^{-E_k\tau}$. As we will show below, we have

$$E_k \ge E + 2, \qquad (2.36)$$

so that the integrand in $A_{ab}^{(2)}$ in eq. (2.33) is exponentially suppressed as we increase Δw . Thus we can fix $w_1 = 0$, and integrate over $w_2 \equiv w$ to compute

$$\left\langle \phi_b\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| \left(\int d^2 w D(w, \bar{w}) \right) D(0) \right| \phi_a\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle.$$
 (2.37)

Here the w integral ranges over $0 \le \sigma < 2\pi, -\frac{T}{2} < \tau < \frac{T}{2}$. The τ range is large in the limit $T \to \infty$. But the contributions to the integral die off quickly for $|w| \gg 2\pi$. Integration over w_1 then just gives a factor

$$\int d^2 w_1 \to 2\pi T \ . \tag{2.38}$$

Thus in the limit $T \to \infty$, eq. (2.33) reads

$$A_{ab}^{(2)}(T) = (2\pi T) \frac{1}{2} e^{-ET} \left\langle \Phi_b\left(\frac{T}{2}\right) \left| \left(\int d^2 w D(w, \bar{w}) \right) D(0) \right| \Phi_a\left(-\frac{T}{2}\right) \right\rangle.$$
(2.39)

To prove eq. (2.36), we note that E_k must lie in the conformal block of some primary operator χ with dimensions $(h_{\chi}, \bar{h}_{\chi})$. Thus, we need a non-vanishing 3-point function

$$f = \langle \phi_a(z_1) D(z_2, \bar{z}_2) \chi(z_3, \bar{z}_3) \rangle .$$
(2.40)

Since ϕ_a has dimensions (h, 0), there is no power of $\bar{z}_2 - \bar{z}_1$ in the correlator. Since D has dimensions $(h_D, \bar{h}_D) = (1, 1)$, this implies that $\bar{h}_{\chi} = 1$. Further, since the w_i are integrated over the spatial coordinates σ_i with no phase, the state ϕ_k must have the same spin as ϕ_a ; i.e. $h_{\chi} - \bar{h}_{\chi} = h$. Thus we have

$$(h_{\chi}, \bar{h}_{\chi}) = (h+1, 1)$$
 (2.41)

and the lowest state E_k corresponding to such a primary has $E_k = E + 2$. If we have a descendent of this lowest state, then we have $E_k > E + 2$. Thus we obtain (2.36).

(b) Now consider the integrand of $A_{ab}^{(2)}$ in eq. (2.39). We have the correlation function

$$\left\langle \Phi_a \right| D(w, \bar{w}) D(0) \left| \Phi_b \right\rangle . \tag{2.42}$$

The right-moving dimensions of Φ_a and Φ_b are zero, so the antiholomorphic part of this correlator is $\langle 0 | D(\bar{w}) D(0) | 0 \rangle$. Since $\bar{h}_D = 1$, we find

$$\langle 0 | D(\bar{w}) D(0) | 0 \rangle = \frac{C_1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)}$$
(2.43)

for some constant C_1 . The left moving part is more complicated and we will calculate it in later sections. But this part also has the same singularity as the right movers when the two D operators approach. So the full correlator will have the form

$$\left\langle \Phi_a \right| D(w, \bar{w}) D(0) \left| \Phi_b \right\rangle = \frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)} . \tag{2.44}$$

We define

$$X_{ab}(T) \equiv \int d^2 w \frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)} .$$
 (2.45)

The amplitude (2.39) then reads

$$A_{ab}^{(2)}(T) = \frac{1}{2} (2\pi T) e^{-ET} X_{ab}(T) . \qquad (2.46)$$

(c) To evaluate eq. (2.45) we write

$$X_{ab}(T) = \int d^2 w \frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)}$$
$$= \int d^2 w \frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \left(\partial_{\bar{w}} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)\right)$$
$$= -2 \int d^2 w \,\partial_{\bar{w}} \left(\frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)\right)$$
$$= i \int_C dw \left(\frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)\right), \qquad (2.47)$$

where in the last line we have used the divergence theorem in complex coordinates. The boundary integral is defined over a contour C consisting of three parts:

(i) C_1 : the upper boundary of the integration range at $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$. This integral, which we call I_{C_1} , runs in the direction of positive σ . Note that $i(dw) = i(id\sigma) = -d\sigma$ and we have

$$I_{C_1} = -\int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(\frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right) \right) . \tag{2.48}$$

(ii) C_2 : the lower boundary of the integration range at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$. The contour runs in the direction of negative σ . The integral is called I_{C_2} and has the form

$$I_{C_2} = \int_0^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(\frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right) \right) .$$
 (2.49)

(iii) C_3 : an integral over a small circle of radius ϵ around the origin where we have the operator D(0). The contour here runs clockwise as this is an inner boundary of the integration domain. We therefore write it as

$$I_{C_3} = -i \int_{|w|=\epsilon} dw \left(\frac{Q_{ab}(w)}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right) \right)$$
(2.50)

where now the integral runs in the usual anticlockwise direction. The integral over C_3 contains divergent contributions from the appearance of operators with dimension $h + \bar{h} \leq 2$ in the OPE $D(w, \bar{w})D(0, 0)$. These divergences have to be removed by adding counterterms terms to the action. Thus we get

$$I_{C_3} + I_{C_3, \text{ counterterm}} = I_{C_3, \text{ renormalized}}$$
 (2.51)

Then eq. (2.47) reads

$$X_{ab}(T) = I_{C_1} + I_{C_2} + I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}} .$$
 (2.52)

Figure 3 shows the locations of the three contours.



Figure 3. Here we show the locations of the three boundary contour integrals, I_{C_1} , I_{C_2} , and I_{C_3} given in equations (2.48), (2.49), and (2.50) respectively.

(iv) Let us now summarize the above discussion. As mentioned in section 2.1(d), we compute $A_{11}^{(2)} \equiv A^{(2)}$ for just one state $|\Phi_1\rangle$, see eq. (2.27). This will give the expectation value of the increase in energy of $|\Phi_1\rangle$. From eqs. (2.46) and (2.52) we obtain

$$A^{(2)}(T) = \pi T e^{-ET} \left(I_{C_1} + I_{C_2} + I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}} \right) .$$
 (2.53)

Finally, for our state $|\Phi_1\rangle$, the lift in the expectation value of the energy is given by the coefficient of $-Te^{-ET}$ in the limit $T \to \infty$, see eqs. (2.25) and (2.26). Thus, we find

$$\langle E^{(2)} \rangle = -\pi \lim_{T \to \infty} X_{ab}(T) = -\pi \lim_{T \to \infty} (I_{C_1} + I_{C_2} + I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}})$$
 (2.54)

3 Setting up the computation

3.1 The deformation operator

The orbifold CFT describes the system at its 'free' point in moduli space. To move towards the supergravity description, we deform the orbifold CFT by adding a deformation operator D, as noted in (2.28).

To understand the structure of D we recall that the orbifold CFT contains 'twist' operators. Twist operators can link any number k out of the N copies of the CFT together to give a c = 6 CFT living on a circle of length $2\pi k$ rather than 2π . We will call such a set of linked copies a 'component string' with winding number k.

The deformation operator contains a twist of order 2. The twist itself carries left and right charges $j = \pm \frac{1}{2}, \bar{j} = \pm \frac{1}{2}$ [47]. Suppose we start with both these charges positive; this gives the twist σ_2^{++} . Then the deformation operators in this twist sector have the form

$$D = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\hat{O}_{\dot{A}\dot{B}} = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{G}^{-}_{\dot{B},-\frac{1}{2}}\sigma_{2}^{++}.$$
(3.1)

Here $P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}$ is a polarization. We will later choose

$$P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} = \epsilon^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \tag{3.2}$$

where $\epsilon^{+-} = -1$. This choice gives a deformation carrying no charges.

We will omit the subscript 2 on the twist operator from now on, and will also consider its holomorphic and antiholomorphic parts separately. We normalize the twist operator as

$$\sigma^{-}(z)\sigma^{+}(z') \sim \frac{1}{(z-z')}$$
 (3.3)

We note that [25, 26, 48]

$$G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}\sigma^{+} = -G^{+}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}\sigma^{-} .$$
(3.4)

It will be convenient to write one of the two deformation operators as $G_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}^{-}\sigma^{+}$ and the other as $-G_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}}^{+}\sigma^{-}$. We will make this choice for both the left and right movers, so the negative sign in (3.4) cancels out. Thus on each of the left and right sides we write one deformation operator in the form $G_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}^{-}\sigma^{+}$ and the other in the form $G_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}^{+}\sigma^{-}$.

From (3.3) we find that on the cylinder

$$\langle 0|\sigma^{-}(w_2)\sigma^{+}(w_1)|0\rangle = \frac{1}{2\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)}$$
(3.5)

where

$$\Delta w = w_2 - w_1 . \tag{3.6}$$

3.2 The states

We start by looking at a CFT with N = 2; i.e., we have two copies of the c = 6 CFT (we will consider general values of N in section 7). The vacuum $|0\rangle$ with h = j = 0 is given by two singly-wound copies of the CFT, i.e. there is no twist linking the copies, and the fermions on each of the copies are in the NS sector. Thus we can write

$$|0\rangle = |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where the superscripts indicate the copy number.

We consider one of the copies to be excited by the application of m R-current operators. The orbifold symmetry requires that the state be symmetric between the two copies, so the state we take is

$$\begin{split} |\Phi^{(m)}\rangle &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(J_{-(2m-1)}^{+(1)} \dots J_{-3}^{+(1)} J_{-1}^{+(1)} + J_{-(2m-1)}^{+(2)} \dots J_{-3}^{+(2)} J_{-1}^{+(2)} \right) |0\rangle \\ &\equiv |\Phi^{(m)}\rangle^{(1)} + |\Phi^{(m)}\rangle^{(2)} , \end{split}$$
(3.8)



Figure 4. The cylinder with the locations of the initial state $|\Phi^{(m)}\rangle$ at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$, the final state $\langle \Phi^{(m)}|$ at $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$, and the two deformation operators $G_{\dot{A}}^{-}\sigma^{+}$ and $G_{\dot{C}}^{+}\sigma^{-}$ at $w_{1} = 0$ and $w_{2} = w$, respectively.

where in $|\Phi^{(m)}\rangle^{(i)}$ the excitations act on copy *i*. This state has

$$(h,\bar{h}) = (m^2,0), \qquad (j,\bar{j}) = (m,0) .$$
 (3.9)

The energy of the state is

$$E \equiv h + \bar{h} = m^2 \tag{3.10}$$

and its momentum is

$$P \equiv h - \bar{h} = m^2 . \tag{3.11}$$

The final state is the conjugate of the initial state

$$\langle \Psi^{(m)} | = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \langle 0 | \left(J_1^{-(1)} J_3^{-(1)} \dots J_{(2m-1)}^{-(1)} + J_1^{-(2)} J_3^{-(2)} \dots J_{(2m-1)}^{-(2)} \right).$$
(3.12)

4 The vacuum correlator

As a first step, we compute the vacuum to vacuum correlator

$$T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1) = \langle 0 | \left(G^+_{\dot{C}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^-(w_2) \right) \left(G^-_{\dot{A}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^+(w_1) \right) | 0 \rangle .$$
(4.1)

The complex conjugate of this correlator will give the right moving part of the correlator of $A^{(2)}(T)$, see eq. (2.39). Figure 4 represents the full state on the cylinder.

4.1 The map to the covering space

To compute the vacuum amplitude $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1)$ in eq. (4.1) we first map the cylinder labeled by w to the complex plane labeled by z:

$$z = e^w . (4.2)$$

We then map this plane to its covering space where the twist operators are resolved, see [46] for the details of the covering space analyses. We consider the map

$$z = \frac{(t+a)(t+b)}{t} .$$
 (4.3)

We have

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = 1 - \frac{ab}{t^2} \ . \tag{4.4}$$

The twist operators correspond to the locations given by $\frac{dz}{dt} = 0$; i.e. the points

$$t_1 = -\sqrt{ab}, \qquad z_1 = e^{w_1} = (\sqrt{a} - \sqrt{b})^2, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$t_2 = \sqrt{ab}, \qquad z_2 = e^{w_2} = (\sqrt{a} + \sqrt{b})^2.$$
 (4.6)

Note that

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \frac{(t-t_1)(t-t_2)}{t^2} \ . \tag{4.7}$$

We define

$$\Delta w = w_2 - w_1 \,, \tag{4.8}$$

$$s = \frac{1}{2}(w_1 + w_2), \qquad (4.9)$$

Then we find

$$a = e^s \cosh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right), \quad b = e^s \sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right) .$$
 (4.10)

It will be useful to note the relations

$$a - b = e^s$$
, $z_1 z_2 = e^{2s}$, $z_1 - z_2 = -2e^s \sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)$. (4.11)

4.2 The 'base' amplitude

To compute the vacuum correlator $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1)$ in eq. (4.1), we start by computing

$$U(w_2, w_1) \equiv \langle 0 | \sigma^-(w_2) \, \sigma^+(w_1) | 0 \rangle \,. \tag{4.12}$$

We call this the 'base' amplitude since each correlator we compute will have this structure of twist operators, and the only extra elements will be local operators with no twist.

The computation of correlators like (4.12) is discussed in [46, 47]. We briefly summarise the computation by proceeding in the following steps:

(i) We already mapped the cylinder labelled by the coordinate w to the complex plane labelled by the coordinate z in subsection 4.1, through the map $z = e^w$. We then mapped the plane to the covering space, labelled by the coordinate t, though the map (4.3). These maps generate a Liouville factor since the curvature of the covering space is different from the curvature on the cylinder, and the change of curvature changes the partition function due to the conformal anomaly of the CFT. Let this Liouville factor be

$$L[z_1, z_2]$$
. (4.13)

(ii) The twist operator $\sigma^+(w_1)$ has left-moving dimension $h = \frac{1}{2}$ and transforms to the plane as

$$\left(\frac{dz}{dw}(z_1)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma^+(z_1) = z_1^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma^+(z_1) \ . \tag{4.14}$$

Now consider the map to the cover. A twist $\sigma^+(z=0)$ on the plane z transforms to a spin field $S^+(t=0)$ on the covering space² under the map $z = t^2$. The spin field has left-moving dimension $h = \frac{1}{4}$. In the map (4.3) we have

$$z - z_1 \approx C(t - t_1)^2$$
, $C = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{ab}}$, (4.15)

so we have an extra scaling factor \sqrt{C} furnishing t compared to the standard map $z - z_1 \approx (t - t_1)^2$, see [47]. Combining with eq. (4.14), we find that the twist 2 operator $\sigma^+(w_1)$ transforms to the spin field $S^+(t_1)$ on the covering surface with an overall factor

$$z_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sqrt{C}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} = z_1^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{ab}}\right)^{\frac{1}{8}} .$$
(4.16)

(iii) Similarly, the operator $\sigma^-(w_2)$ transforms to the spin field $S^-(t_2)$ on the cover acquiring an overall factor

$$z_2^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{ab}}\right)^{\frac{1}{8}}$$
 (4.17)

(iv) At this stage we have on the t plane the amplitude

$$\langle 0|S^{-}(t_2)S^{+}(t_1)|0\rangle$$
 (4.18)

As discussed in footnote 2, the spin field $S^+(t_1)$ creates an R vacuum at t_1 . We can make a spectral flow transformation around the point $t = t_1$ to map this R vacuum to the NS vacuum $|0\rangle$, see appendix B for a brief review. The NS vacuum is equivalent to no insertion on the covering space at all, so we would have taken all the effects of the twist into account. The spectral flow parameter needed is $\alpha = -1$, and we obtain

$$S^+(t_1)|0\rangle \longmapsto |0\rangle$$
 . (4.19)

²This is because fermionic fields have different boundary conditions in the odd versus even twisted sectors of the symmetric orbifold. The NS sector fermions have the usual NS-type half-integer modes in the odd twisted sector, whereas in the even twisted sector they have Ramond-type integer modes. The spin fields account for the ground state energy in the Ramond (R) sector, see ([47], section 2.2) for details.

Under such a spectral flow transformation, other fields in the t plane pick up a factor as given in eq. (B.2). Thus, the field $S^{-}(t_2)$ (which has R-charge $j = -\frac{1}{2}$) acquires a factor $(t_2 - t_1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$.

(v) Now consider the spin field $S^{-}(t_2)$. We perform a similar spectral flow around the point $t = t_2$ with $\alpha = 1$. This gives

$$S^{-}(t_2)|0\rangle \longmapsto |0\rangle . \tag{4.20}$$

There are no other fields in the t plane, so this time we get no additional factors from the spectral flow.

(vi) We now just have the t plane with no insertions. The amplitude for this vacuum state is unity: it has been set to this value when defining the Liouville factor (4.13). Collecting all the factors (i)–(v) above, we obtain the amplitude $U(w_2, w_1)$ in eq. (4.12).

While we can compute $U(w_2, w_1)$ as outlined above, it turns out that we do not need to carry out these steps in this specific example: we already know the result from eq. (3.5)

$$U(w_2, w_1) = \frac{1}{2\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} . \tag{4.21}$$

The reason we do not have to carry out the steps (i)-(v) explicitly here is that we have only two twist operators in our correlator; in this situation the factors from steps (i)-(v)can be absorbed in the normalization of the twists. However, if we have more than two twists then we do need to compute all factors explicitly.

Even though we can compute $U(w_2, w_1)$ without carrying out these steps, it is important to list the steps since when we have other excitations in the correlator then we will get additional factors from each of these steps. For later use, it will be helpful to also write the base amplitude (4.21) in alternative ways using the relations in section 4.1:

$$U = \frac{z_1^{\frac{1}{2}} z_2^{\frac{1}{2}}}{(z_2 - z_1)} = \frac{(a - b)}{4\sqrt{ab}} .$$
(4.22)

4.3 The complete vacuum amplitude

We now return to the computation of the vacuum amplitude $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1)$ defined in (4.1). Consider the operator

$$G_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}^{-} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{w_1} dw_1' G_{\dot{A}}^{-}(w_1') . \qquad (4.23)$$

We proceed in the following steps:

(i) We have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{w_1} dw'_1 G_{\dot{A}}^-(w'_1) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{z_1} dz'_1 \left(\frac{dz'_1}{dw'_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^-(z'_1)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{t_1} dt'_1 \left(\frac{dt'_1}{dz'_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{dz'_1}{dw'_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^-(t'_1)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{t_1} dt'_1 (t'_1 - t_1)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (t'_1 - t_2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} t'_1^{\frac{1}{2}} (t'_1 + a)^{\frac{1}{2}} (t'_1 + b)^{\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^-(t'_1).$$
(4.24)

(ii) In section 4.2 above we have seen that we perform a spectral flow around $t = t_1$ by $\alpha = -1$ and another one around $t = t_2$ by $\alpha = 1$. These flows give the factors

$$G_{\dot{A}}^{-}(t_{1}') \longmapsto (t_{1}'-t_{1})^{-\frac{1}{2}}(t_{1}'-t_{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}G_{\dot{A}}^{-}(t_{1}'), \qquad (4.25)$$

see appendix **B**. Thus, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{w_1} dw'_1 G_{\dot{A}}^-(w'_1) \longmapsto \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{t_1} dt'_1 (t'_1 - t_1)^{-1} t'_1^{\frac{1}{2}} (t'_1 + a)^{\frac{1}{2}} (t'_1 + b)^{\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^-(t'_1)$$

$$= t_1^{\frac{1}{2}} (t_1 + a)^{\frac{1}{2}} (t_1 + b)^{\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^-(t_1) .$$
(4.26)

(iii) Similarly we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{w_2} dw'_2 G^+_{\dot{C}}(w'_2) \longmapsto t_2^{\frac{1}{2}} (t_2 + a)^{\frac{1}{2}} (t_2 + b)^{\frac{1}{2}} G^+_{\dot{C}}(t_2) .$$
(4.27)

(iv) Apart from the c-number factors in steps (i)-(iii), we have the t plane correlator

$$\langle 0|G_{\dot{C}}^{+}(t_2) \, G_{\dot{A}}^{-}(t_1)|0\rangle = \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \, \frac{(-2)}{(t_2 - t_1)^3} \, . \tag{4.28}$$

(v) Collecting all the factors and noting the base amplitude (4.21), we find³

$$T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1) = \left(t_1^{\frac{1}{2}}(t_1+a)^{\frac{1}{2}}(t_1+b)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \left(t_2^{\frac{1}{2}}(t_2+a)^{\frac{1}{2}}(t_2+b)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \times \\ \times \left(\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\frac{(-2)}{(t_2-t_1)^3}U(w_2, w_1)\right) \\ = \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\frac{(a-b)^2}{16\,ab} = \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\frac{1}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)}.$$
(4.29)

The right moving part of the correlator in the integrand of $A^{(2)}(T)$ in eq. (2.53) is found by taking the complex conjugate of this expression and taking $\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \rightarrow \epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}$

$$\left\langle 0 | \left(G^+_{\dot{D}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^-(\bar{w}_2) \right) \left(G^-_{\dot{B}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^+(\bar{w}_1) \right) | 0 \rangle = \epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{1}{4 \sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta \bar{w}}{2}\right)} .$$
(4.30)

5 Lifting of D1-D5-P states

In this section we evaluate lifting of the D1-D5-P states (3.8). We compute the left part of the correlator appearing in the amplitude $A^{(2)}(T)$, see eqs. (2.39) and (2.53). Analogous to (4.1), we define

$$T_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}^{(j)(i)}(w_2,w_1) = {}^{(j)} \langle \Phi^{(m)} | (G_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}}^+ \sigma^-(w_2)) (G_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}^- \sigma^+(w_1)) | \Phi^{(m)} \rangle^{(i)}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where the superscripts (i), (j) indicate which of the two copies carries the current excitations.

³Since there are fractional powers in the expressions here, the overall phase involves a choice of branch. But similar fractional powers appear in the right moving sector, and we can choose the signs as taken here with the understanding that we choose similar signs for the right movers.

5.1 Computing $T^{(1)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}(w_2,w_1)$

Let us start by computing $T^{(1)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}(w_2,w_1)$. We will see that this computation will automatically extend to yield all the $T^{(j)(i)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}(w_2,w_1)$ amplitudes.

The operator

$$\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)} \equiv J^{+}_{-(2m-1)} \cdots J^{+}_{-3} J^{+}_{-1}$$
(5.2)

has quantum numbers $(h, \bar{h}) = (m^2, 0)$ and $(j, \bar{j}) = (m, 0)$. With the commutation relations given in (A.16), we find that $\mathcal{J}_m^+(z=0)$ generates a state with unit norm at z=0. The operator conjugate to \mathcal{J}_m^+ is

$$\mathcal{J}^{-,(m)} \equiv J_1^- J_3^- \cdots J_{(2m-1)}^- \,. \tag{5.3}$$

We follow the same process by which we computed the amplitude $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1)$ in subsection 4.3. The initial and final states have been written in terms of operator modes and can therefore be assumed to be placed at $\tau \to -\infty$ and $\tau \to \infty$, respectively. We first map the cylinder w to the plane z. The currents in the initial state give the operator $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(z=0)$ on copy 1. The currents in the final state give the operator $\mathcal{J}^{-,(m)}(z=\infty)$, again on copy 1.

Next we map to the t plane via the map (4.3). The point z = 0 for copy 1 maps to t = -a. Thus, $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(z = 0)$ maps as

$$\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(z=0) \longmapsto \left(\frac{dt}{dz}\right)^{m^2} \mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(t=-a) = \left(\frac{a}{a-b}\right)^{m^2} \mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(t=-a) .$$
(5.4)

The point $z = \infty$ for copy 1 maps to $t = \infty$. We have $z \sim t$ at $t = \infty$, so the operator $\mathcal{J}^{-,(m)}(z = \infty)$ maps as

$$\mathcal{J}^{-,(m)}(z=\infty) \longmapsto \mathcal{J}^{-,(m)}(t=\infty) .$$
(5.5)

We note that the state $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}|0\rangle$ is obtained by spectral flow of the vacuum $|0\rangle$ by $\alpha = 2m$, see appendix B. Thus we can use the spectral flow by $\alpha = -2m$ to map $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}|0\rangle$ to the vacuum $|0\rangle$. We will use this trick to remove the insertion of $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}$ on the t plane: this reduces the amplitude to the one we had for $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2, w_1)$ in eq. (4.29). (Note that when we remove $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}$ from any point in the t plane, we remove at the same time the operator $\mathcal{J}^{-,(m)}$ at infinity.) Figure 5 shows the covering space insertions for the unspectral flowed amplitude, the amplitude with only spin fields spectral flowed away, and the amplitude with both spin fields and currents spectral flowed away.

Let us note the extra factors we get in computing $T^{(1)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}(w_2,w_1)$ in eq. (5.1) as compared to $T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2,w_1)$ in eq. (4.29):

(i) From (3.8) we see that the initial and final states $|\Psi^{(m)}\rangle^{(1)}$ and ${}^{(1)}\langle\Psi^{(m)}|$ have a normalization $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ each; this gives a factor

$$f_1 = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^2 \ . \tag{5.6}$$



Figure 5. (a) The *t* plane with the spin fields $S^+(t_1)$ and $S^-(t_2)$, the $G^-_{\dot{A}}$ contour circling t_1 , the $G^+_{\dot{C}}$ contour circling t_2 , the $\mathcal{J}^{+,m}$ contour circling t = -a, and the $\mathcal{J}^{-,m}$ contour circling $t = \infty$. (b) The spin fields, $S^+(t_1)$ and $S^-(t_2)$ spectral flowed away. (c) The spin fields $S^+(t_1)$ and $S^-(t_2)$ and the currents $\mathcal{J}^{+,m}$ and $\mathcal{J}^{-,m}$ all spectral flowed away. All of the spectral flow factors are given in subsection 5.1.

(ii) We have the factor obtained in (5.4) when mapping $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}$ from the z to the t plane:

$$f_2 = \left(\frac{a}{a-b}\right)^{m^2} \,. \tag{5.7}$$

(iii) We perform a spectral flow by $\alpha = -1$ around the point $t = t_1$. Under this spectral flow, the operator $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(t = -a)$ picks up the factor

$$f_3 = (-a - t_1)^m . (5.8)$$

JHEP01 (2019)075

(iv) We perform a spectral flow by $\alpha = 1$ around the point $t = t_2$. Under this spectral flow, the operator $\mathcal{J}^{+,(m)}(t = -a)$ picks up the factor

$$f_4 = (-a - t_2)^{-m} . (5.9)$$

(v) We perform a spectral flow around t = -a by $\alpha = -2m$. This gives

$$\mathcal{I}^{+,(m)}|0\rangle_{(t=-a)} \longmapsto |0\rangle_{(t=-a)} .$$

$$(5.10)$$

We have the operator $G_{\dot{A}}^{-}(t=t_1)$; this picks up a factor

$$f_5 = (t_1 + a)^{-m} . (5.11)$$

Likewise, the operator $G^+_{\dot{C}}(t=t_2)$ picks up a factor

$$f_6 = (t_2 + a)^m . (5.12)$$

We are now left with just the amplitude (4.29). Combining eqs. (5.6)–(5.12), we find

$$T_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}^{(1)(1)}(w_2,w_1) = \prod_{i=1}^{6} f_i T_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}(w_2,w_1) = \frac{\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}}{2} \left(\frac{a}{a-b}\right)^{m^2} \left[\frac{(a-b)^2}{16ab}\right]$$
$$= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2}}{8\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} .$$
(5.13)

5.2 Computing the remaining $T^{(j)(i)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}$

Suppose we fix σ_1 and consider the shift $\sigma_2 \mapsto \sigma_2 + 2\pi$. This gives $\Delta w \mapsto \Delta w + 2\pi i$. Under this change $\sinh(\frac{\Delta w}{2}) \mapsto -\sinh(\frac{\Delta w}{2})$, and so $\sinh^2(\frac{\Delta w}{2})$ is invariant. Similarly, $\sinh^2(\frac{\Delta \bar{w}}{2})$ is invariant. But $\cosh(\frac{\Delta w}{4}) \mapsto i \sinh(\frac{\Delta w}{4})$. Thus, the integrand in (5.13) is not periodic under $\sigma_2 \mapsto \sigma_2 + 2\pi$. The reason is that when we move σ_2 through 2π , we move from copy 1 to copy 2. This implies

$$T^{(1)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m} \mapsto T^{(2)(1)}_{\dot{C}\dot{A},m}$$
 (5.14)

Under the shift $\sigma_2 \mapsto \sigma_2 + 2\pi$ we find

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} \mapsto (-1)^m \left(\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} . \tag{5.15}$$

Thus, we see that we can take into account all the four terms $T^{(j)(i)}$ by taking $T^{(1)(1)}$ and making the replacement

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} \mapsto 2\left(\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} + (-1)^m \left(\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2}\right) . \tag{5.16}$$

Collecting the left and right parts of the correlator, we find that

$$\langle \Psi^{(m)} | D(w) D(0) | \Psi^{(m)} \rangle = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}} \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{\left(\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} + (-1)^m \left(\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} \right)}{16\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta \bar{w}}{2}\right)} \,. \tag{5.17}$$

Comparing with (2.44), we find that

$$Q^{(m)}(w) = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\left(\left(\cosh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} + (-1)^{m}\left(\sinh\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}}\right)}{16} .$$
 (5.18)

5.3 Computing $X^{(m)}(T)$ for m even

Due to the term $(-1)^m$ in (5.18), it is convenient to treat the cases of even and odd m separately. We consider even values of m in this subsection and treat the odd m case in the next subsection.

We first compute the contour integral I_{C_1} in eq. (2.48) in the limit $\tau \to \infty$. To do so, we set $w_2 \equiv w, w_1 = 0$, and expand the functions in (5.18) in powers of e^{-w} . We find:

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{1}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{\frac{m^{2}}{2}w} \sum_{k=0}^{2m^{2}} {}^{2m^{2}} C_{k} e^{-\frac{k}{2}w},$$

$$\left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{1}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{\frac{m^{2}}{2}w} \sum_{k=0}^{2m^{2}} {}^{2m^{2}} C_{k} (-1)^{k} e^{-\frac{k}{2}w},$$
 (5.19)

where ${}^{m}C_{n}$ are the binomial coefficients. Defining $k = 2k', k' \in \mathbb{Z}$, we find

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} + \left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{2}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{\frac{m^{2}}{2}w} \sum_{k'=0}^{m^{2}} {}^{2m^{2}} C_{2k'} e^{-k'w} .$$
(5.20)

We also have

$$\frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} = 4e^{-w} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (l+1)e^{-lw}, \qquad (5.21)$$

$$\coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right) = (1 + e^{-\bar{w}}) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-n\bar{w}} .$$
(5.22)

We have I_{C_1} in eq. (2.48) as an integral over w at $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$:

$$I_{C_{1}} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \\ \times \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma=0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(\frac{e^{\frac{m^{2}}{2}w}}{2^{2m^{2}}}\right) \left(\sum_{k'=0}^{m^{2}} 2m^{2}C_{2k'}e^{-k'w}\right) \left(e^{-w}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}(l+1)e^{-lw}\right) \times \\ \times \left((1+e^{-\bar{w}})\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}e^{-n\bar{w}}\right),$$
(5.23)

where the last bracket contains antiholomorphic factors of the form $1, e^{-\bar{w}}, e^{-2\bar{w}}, \cdots$. We will now argue that only the leading term, 1, survives from this bracket, in the limit $T \to \infty$. To see this, note that the first bracket on the r.h.s. of (5.23) has a power $e^{\frac{m^2}{2}w}$. From the second and third brackets, we can get a power e^{-k_1w} with $k_1 \ge 0$ and from the last bracket we can get a power $e^{-k_2\bar{w}}$ with $k_2 \ge 0$. These factors give

$$e^{(\frac{m^2}{2}-k_1-k_2)\tau}e^{i\left(\frac{m^2}{2}-k_1+k_2\right)\sigma}.$$
(5.24)

We have

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} d\sigma e^{i(\frac{m^2}{2} - k_1 + k_2)\sigma} = 2\pi \delta_{\frac{m^2}{2} - k_1 + k_2, 0}, \qquad (5.25)$$

so that we have $k_1 = \frac{m^2}{2} + k_2$. The power of e^{τ} then gives (since $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$)

$$e^{-k_2T}$$
. (5.26)

Thus in the limit $T \to \infty$, the only surviving term is $k_2 = 0$, and therefore the last bracket in (5.23) can be replaced by unity. We then get

$$k_1 = k' + l + 1 = \frac{m^2}{2} \tag{5.27}$$

which sets $l = \frac{m^2}{2} - k' - 1$. The condition $l \ge 0$ then gives

$$k' \le \frac{m^2}{2} - 1 \ . \tag{5.28}$$

Using (5.25), we find

$$I_{C_{1}} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\pi}{2^{2m^{2}}}\sum_{k'=0}^{\frac{m^{2}}{2}-1}{}^{2m^{2}}C_{2k'}\left(\frac{m^{2}}{2}-k'\right)$$
$$= -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{8}\frac{\Gamma[m^{2}-\frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^{2}-1]}.$$
(5.29)

We proceed similarly for the contour integral I_{C_2} in eq. (2.49) at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$. This time we expand the functions in (5.18) in powers of e^w :

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{1}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{-\frac{m^{2}}{2}w} \sum_{k=0}^{2m^{2}} {}^{2m^{2}}C_{k}e^{\frac{k}{2}w},$$

$$\left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{1}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{-\frac{m^{2}}{2}w} \sum_{k=0}^{2m^{2}} {}^{2m^{2}}C_{k}(-1)^{k}e^{\frac{k}{2}w}.$$
(5.30)

Defining again $k = 2k', k' \in \mathbb{Z}$ in these sums, we find

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} + \left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{2}{2^{2m^{2}}}e^{-\frac{m^{2}}{2}w}\sum_{k'=0}^{m^{2}}{}^{2m^{2}}C_{2k'}e^{k'w}.$$
 (5.31)

We further have

$$\frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} = 4e^w \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (l+1)e^{lw} \,, \tag{5.32}$$

$$\coth\left(\frac{w}{2}\right) = -(1+e^{\bar{w}})\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}e^{n\bar{w}}.$$
(5.33)

Our integral becomes

$$I_{C_{2}} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \\ \times \frac{1}{2} \int_{\sigma=0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(\frac{2e^{-\frac{m^{2}}{2}w}}{2^{2m^{2}}}\right) \left(\sum_{k'=0}^{m^{2}} 2m^{2}C_{2k'}e^{k'w}\right) \left(e^{w}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}(l+1)e^{lw}\right) \\ \times \left((1+e^{\bar{w}})\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}e^{n\bar{w}}\right),$$
(5.34)

where the last bracket now contains antiholomorphic factors of the form $1, e^{\bar{w}}, e^{2\bar{w}}, \cdots$. Following a reasoning similar to that in the case of the computation for I_{C_1} in eq. (5.23), we find that only the leading term, 1, survives from the last bracket in the limit $T \to \infty$. We then have

$$I_{C_2} = -P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\pi}{2^{2m^2}}\sum_{k'=0}^{\frac{m^2}{2}-1} {}^{2m^2}C_{2k'}\left(\frac{m^2}{2}-k'\right)$$
$$= -P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{8}\frac{\Gamma\left[m^2-\frac{1}{2}\right]}{\Gamma\left[m^2-1\right]} = I_{C_1}.$$
(5.35)

We next consider I_{C_3} in eq. (2.50), the contribution from the contour around w = 0. For small |w| we have (with $m \ge 2$)

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} + \left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^2} = 1 + \frac{m^2}{16}w^2 + \cdots,$$
 (5.36)

$$\frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} = \frac{4}{w^2} - \frac{1}{3} + \cdots, \qquad (5.37)$$

$$\coth\left(\frac{w}{2}\right) = \frac{2}{\bar{w}} + \frac{\bar{w}}{6} + \cdots .$$
 (5.38)

The leading term in the integrand (2.50) gives:

$$I_{C_3} \to -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{i}{2}\int_{|w|=\epsilon}\frac{dw}{w^2}\frac{1}{\bar{w}} = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\pi}{\epsilon^2} .$$
(5.39)

This is a constant independent of the states at the bottom and top of the cylinder in the correlator, and will arise even if we replace these states with the vacuum state $|0\rangle$. Thus, to maintain the normalization

$$\langle 0|0\rangle = 1 \tag{5.40}$$

of the vacuum at $O(\lambda^2)$ we must add to the Lagrangian a counterterm proportional to the identity operator, which generates an integral

$$I_{C_3,\text{ counterterm}} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\pi}{\epsilon^2} .$$
(5.41)

This cancels the divergent contribution to I_{C_3} . The next largest terms in the integrand of (2.50) give

$$P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\left(-\frac{im^2}{32}\int_{|w|=\epsilon}\frac{dw}{\bar{w}} + \frac{i}{24}\int_{|w|=\epsilon}\frac{dw}{\bar{w}} - \frac{1}{24}\int_{|w|=\epsilon}\frac{dw}{w^2}\bar{w}\right) .$$
(5.42)

We find that each of these terms vanishes. Higher order terms give contributions having positive powers of $|\epsilon|$ and so for these terms we have $I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}} = 0$.

Finally, using (2.52), we find that for even $m, X^{(m)}(T)$ is of the form

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} X^{(m)} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4}\frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]}.$$
(5.43)

5.4 Computing $X^{(m)}(T)$ for m odd

We next compute eq. (5.18) for odd values of m. Defining $k = 2k' + 1, k' \in \mathbb{Z}$ we find that

$$\left(\cosh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} - \left(\sinh\left(\frac{w}{4}\right)\right)^{2m^{2}} = \frac{2}{2^{2m^{2}}} e^{\frac{(m^{2}-1)}{2}w} \sum_{k'=0}^{m^{2}-1} {}^{2m^{2}} C_{2k'+1} e^{-k'w} .$$
(5.44)

Proceeding just as for the case of even m, we find

$$I_{C_1} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{\pi}{2^{2m^2}} \sum_{k'=0}^{\frac{(m^2-1)}{2}-1} 2m^2 C_{2k'+1} \left(\frac{(m^2-1)}{2}-k'\right)$$
$$= -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{8} \frac{\Gamma[m^2-\frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2-1]} .$$
(5.45)

We also find, as before,

 $I_{C_2} = I_{C_1}, \quad I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}} \to 0$. (5.46)

Thus, for odd m we get the same expression as for even m

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} X^{(m)} = -P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4}\frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]}.$$
(5.47)

5.5 Expectation values

We shall now compute the expectation value of the energy (2.54) for the states (3.8):

$$\langle E^{(2)} \rangle = -\pi \lim_{T \to \infty} X^{(m)} = P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}} P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{\pi^{\frac{2}{2}}}{4} \frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]} .$$
(5.48)

We set the polarization $P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}$ to correspond to a perturbation with no quantum numbers

$$P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} = \epsilon^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} . \tag{5.49}$$

We expect such a perturbation to correspond to the direction towards the supergravity spacetime $AdS_3 \times S^3 \times T^4$. Then we obtain

$$\langle E^{(2)} \rangle = \frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2} \frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]} .$$
 (5.50)

This is the main result of this section. We will generalise this result to arbitrary values of N in section 7.

6 No lift for global modes

The chiral algebra generators of the CFT at the orbifold point are described by a sum over the generators of each copy:

$$J_{-n}^{+} = J_{-n}^{+(1)} + J_{-n}^{+(2)} + \dots + J_{-n}^{+(N)} .$$
(6.1)

If we act with such a current on any state then the dimension of the state will rise as

$$h \to h + n$$
 . (6.2)

There cannot be any anomalous contribution since the change (6.2) is determined by the chiral algebra. We can use this fact as a check on the computations that we have performed; we will perform this check for a simple case in this section.

Let us assume that we have two copies (as in the above sections); so N = 2. First consider the case where we apply J_{-1}^+ ; this gives the state

$$|\chi_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} J_{-1}^+ |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(J_{-1}^{+(1)} + J_{-1}^{+(2)} \right) |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)} , \qquad (6.3)$$

where we have added a normalization factor to normalize the state to unity. This is the same as the state $|\Phi^{(1)}\rangle$ defined in (3.8). From (5.50) we see that the lift vanishes in this case.

Next consider the state

$$\begin{aligned} |\chi_{2}\rangle &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} J_{-3}^{+} J_{-1}^{+} |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \left(J_{-3}^{+(1)} J_{-1}^{+(1)} + J_{-3}^{+(2)} J_{-1}^{+(2)} \right) |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)} \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\sqrt{8}} \left(J_{-3}^{+(1)} J_{-1}^{+(2)} + J_{-3}^{+(2)} J_{-1}^{+(1)} \right) |0\rangle^{(1)} |0\rangle^{(2)} \\ &\equiv |\chi_{2,1}\rangle + |\chi_{2,2}\rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(6.4)

The conjugate state is written in a similar way in two parts

$$\langle \chi_2 | = \langle \chi_{2,1} | + \langle \chi_{2,2} | .$$
 (6.5)

Note that the state $|\chi_{2,1}\rangle$ is (upto a normalization factor) the same as the state $|\Phi^{(2)}\rangle$ defined in (3.8).

We now consider the lift of the state $|\chi_2\rangle$. There are four contributions to this lift. The first has $|\chi_{2,1}\rangle$ as the initial and final states, and this is proportional to the lift we have computed for $|\Phi^{(2)}\rangle$, see eq. (5.50). Thus, this contribution is nonzero. But there are three other contributions which involve $|\chi_{2,2}\rangle$. When we add all these contributions and subtract the identity contribution in (4.29), the lift is expected vanish as we now check. Computing the amplitudes by the same method as in the above sections, we find

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \chi_{2,1} | \left(G^{+}_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{-}(w_{2}) \right) \left(G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{+}(w_{1}) \right) | \chi_{2,1} \rangle &= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\cosh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} + \frac{\sinh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \right), \\ \langle \chi_{2,2} | \left(G^{+}_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{-}(w_{2}) \right) \left(G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{+}(w_{1}) \right) | \chi_{2,1} \rangle &= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4} \left(-\frac{\cosh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} - \frac{\sinh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} + \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \chi_{2,1} | \left(G^{+}_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{-}(w_{2}) \right) \left(G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{+}(w_{1}) \right) | \chi_{2,2} \rangle &= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4} \left(-\frac{\cosh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} - \frac{\sinh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} + \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{1}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \right), \\ \langle \chi_{2,2} | \left(G^{+}_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{-}(w_{2}) \right) \left(G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^{+}(w_{1}) \right) | \chi_{2,2} \rangle &= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\cosh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)} + \frac{\sinh^{8}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)} + \right. \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \chi_{2,2} | \left(G^+_{\dot{C},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^-(w_2) \right) \left(G^-_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^+(w_1) \right) | \chi_{2,2} \rangle &= \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\cosh^6\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} + \frac{\sinh^6\left(\frac{\Delta w}{4}\right)}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} + \frac{2}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \right) \\ &+ \frac{2}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(6.6)

We add up all four contributions and obtain

$$\langle \chi_2 | \left(G^+_{\dot{C}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^-(w_2) \right) \left(G^-_{\dot{A}, -\frac{1}{2}} \sigma^+(w_1) \right) | \chi_2 \rangle = \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \frac{1}{4\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} .$$
(6.7)

Collecting the left at right parts of the correlator we find

$$\langle \chi_2 | D(w, \bar{w}) D(0) | \chi_2 \rangle = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}} \epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}} \epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}} \frac{1}{16\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta w}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{\sinh^2\left(\frac{\Delta \bar{w}}{2}\right)} . \tag{6.8}$$

Comparing with (2.44) we have

$$Q = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{1}{16}.$$
(6.9)

We want to compute I_{C_1} , I_{C_2} and $I_{C_3, \text{renormalized}}$ in eqs. (2.48)–(2.50). For I_{C_1} , inserting (6.9) into (2.48) yields

$$I_{C_1} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\int_{\sigma=0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(\frac{1}{16\sinh^2\left(\frac{w}{2}\right)} \coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)\right) .$$
(6.10)

Inserting the expansions (5.32) and (5.33) give

$$I_{C_1} = -\frac{1}{4} \int_{\sigma=0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(e^{-w} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} {}^{-2}C_l (-1)^l e^{-lw} \right) \left((1+e^{-\bar{w}}) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} {}^{-1}C_n (-1)^n e^{-n\bar{w}} \right).$$
(6.11)

This contour is evaluated at $\tau = \frac{T}{2}$ with $T \to \infty$. Since our expression only contains negative powers of w and \bar{w} , every term vanishes and we find that

$$I_{C_1} = 0 . (6.12)$$

Similarly, for I_{C_2} we find

$$I_{C_2} = -\frac{1}{4} \int_{\sigma=0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \left(e^w \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} {}^{-2}C_l (-1)^l e^{lw} \right) \left((1+e^{\bar{w}}) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} {}^{-1}C_n (-1)^n e^{n\bar{w}} \right) .$$
(6.13)

This contour is evaluated at $\tau = -\frac{T}{2}$ with $T \to \infty$. Our expression only contains positive powers of w and \bar{w} and we find

$$I_{C_2} = 0$$
. (6.14)

For I_{C_3} , inserting (6.9) into (2.50) yields

$$I_{C_3} = -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}i\int_{|w|=\epsilon}dw\left(\frac{1}{16\sinh^2(\frac{w}{2})}\coth\left(\frac{\bar{w}}{2}\right)\right) .$$
(6.15)

Inserting the expansions (5.37) and (5.38) and taking the leading order term in the integrand we have

$$I_{C_3} \to -P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{i}{2}\int_{|w|=\epsilon}\frac{dw}{w^2\bar{w}} = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}P^{\dot{C}\dot{D}}\epsilon_{\dot{C}\dot{A}}\epsilon_{\dot{D}\dot{B}}\frac{\pi}{\epsilon^2} .$$
(6.16)

Using (5.41), we find

$$I_{C_{3, \text{renormalized}}} = I_{C_3} + I_{C_{3, \text{counterterm}}} = 0$$
 . (6.17)

The expectation value (2.54) then reads

$$\langle E^{(2)} \rangle = -\pi \lim_{T \to \infty} \left(I_{C_1} + I_{C_2} + I_{C_{3, \text{renormalized}}} \right) = 0,$$
 (6.18)

proving the absence of lifting for the global mode in (6.4). From (2.27) we can now argue that the global mode does not mix with any eigenstate that lifts. We have $E_{a'}^{(2)} \ge 0$ for all a', since the states $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}$ are chiral primaries in the right-moving sector, and therefore must have $\Delta \bar{h} = \Delta h \ge 0$. Thus, a vanishing of $\langle E^{(2)} \rangle = 0$ means a vanishing overlap of $|\chi_2\rangle$ with each of the $\tilde{\phi}_{a'}$ which lift; from this it follows that $|\chi_2\rangle$ remains an unlifted eigenstate of the Hamiltonian.

7 General values of N

So far we have considered two copies of the c = 6 CFT: N = 2. The initial state had two singly-wound copies; the twist operators twisted these together and then untwisted them, so that we ended with two singly-wound copies again. In general, the orbifold CFT has an arbitrary number $N = n_1 n_5$ of copies of the CFT. But as we will now see, for our situation, the computation with two copies that we have carried out allows us to obtain the expectation values for arbitrary N.

7.1 The initial state

We have N copies of the c = 6 CFT and each copy is singly-wound. Each copy is in the NS sector. Out of these copies, we assume that n copies are excited as

$$J_{-(2m-1)}^{+(i)} \dots J_{-3}^{+(i)} J_{-1}^{+(i)} |0\rangle^{(i)}, \quad i \in \{1, \cdots, n\}$$
(7.1)

in the left moving sector, while the right moving sector is in the vacuum state $|0\rangle$. The remaining N - n copies are in the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ on both the left and right sectors. This state is depicted in figure 1.

There are ${}^{N}C_{n}$ ways to choose which strings are excited. Thus, the initial state is composed of ${}^{N}C_{n}$ different terms, with each term describing one set of possible excitations. The sum of these terms must be multiplied by a factor

$$\mathcal{N} = \binom{N C_n}{-\frac{1}{2}} \tag{7.2}$$

in order that the overall state is normalised to unity.

7.2 Action of the deformation operator

When we were dealing with just two copies, we denoted the twist operator of the deformation by σ^{\pm} ; it was implicit that this operator would twist together the two copies that we had, see subsection 3.1. But when we have N > 2 copies, then we need to specify which two copies are being twisted. If the (i) and (j) copies are twisted, we denote the twist operator by $\sigma^{\pm}_{(i)(j)}$. Thus the deformation operator (3.1) now has the form

$$D = P^{\dot{A}\dot{B}}G^{-}_{\dot{A},-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{G}^{-}_{\dot{B},-\frac{1}{2}}\sum_{i< j}\sigma^{++}_{(i)(j)}, \qquad (7.3)$$

where $1 \leq i, j \leq N$. The supercurrents $G_{\dot{A}}^{-}$ are given by a sum over the contributions from each copy:

$$G_{\dot{A}}^{-} \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{N} G_{\dot{A}}^{-(i)} .$$
 (7.4)

7.3 Expectation values for general values of N

We argue in the following steps:

- (i) Consider the action of the first deformation operator on the initial state. Suppose this first deformation operator twists together the copies (i), (j). Since we are computing an expectation value, the final state must be the same as the initial state; thus the final state must also have all copies singly-wound. So the second deformation operator must twist the same copies i, j to produce a state with all copies singly-wound.
- (ii) Copies other than the two copies that get twisted act like 'spectators'; thus we get an inner product between their initial state and their final state. If the initial state for such a copy is unexcited, then the final state must also be unexcited, and if the initial

state is excited then the final state has to be excited. The inner product between copies with the same initial and final state is unity.

Since the state of the spectator copies does not change, the number of spectator copies which are excited are also the same between the initial and final states. As a consequence, for the pair i, j which do get twisted, the number of excited copies in the initial and final states is the same.

- (iii) We therefore find that there are three possibilities for the excitations among the twisted copies i, j:
 - (a) Neither of the copies (i), (j) are excited. In this case there is no contribution to the lifting, as the vacuum state $|0\rangle^{(i)}|0\rangle^{(j)}$ is not lifted.
 - (b) Both the copies (i), (j) are excited. But the state where both copies are excited is a spectral flow of the state where neither copy is excited, as we have seen in section 6. So again there is no lift.
 - (c) One of the copies out of (i), (j) is excited and one is unexcited. There are four contributions here: (1) Copy (i) excited in the initial state, copy (i) excited in the final state; (2) Copy (j) excited in the initial state, copy (i) excited in the final state; (3) Copy (i) excited in the initial state, copy (j) excited in the final state; (4) Copy (j) excited in the initial state, copy (j) excited in the final state. These are the four contributions we had in eq. (5.1). Thus summing these four contributions gives the same anomalous dimension $E^{(2)}$ that we computed for the case N = 2, see eq. (5.50), with an extra factor of 2 since we do not here have the normalization factors $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ in the initial and final state. Thus, the pair (i), (j) contribute $2E^{(2)}$, with $E^{(2)}$ given by eq. (5.50).
- (iv) Let us now collect combinatoric factors. First we select the pair (i), (j) out of the N copies. This is done in ${}^{N}C_{2}$ ways. Out of these two copies, one has to be excited (as noted in (iii) above). Thus, out of the remaining N-2 copies, n-1 are excited. These n-1 copies can be chosen in ${}^{N-2}C_{n-1}$ ways, so this is the number of terms which have the contribution $2E^{(2)}$. We note that $1 \le n \le N-1$.
- (v) Let us finally collect all the factors. We have a normalization factor (7.2) both from the initial and final configurations, so we get a factor $|\mathcal{N}|^2$. Together with the combinatorial factors from the previous paragraph, we find that the expectation value is of the form:

$$\langle (E - E_{\text{orbifold}}) \rangle = \lambda^2 {N C_n}^{-1} {N C_2} {N^{-2} C_{n-1}} (2 \langle E^{(2)} \rangle) = \lambda^2 n (N - n) \langle E^{(2)} \rangle = \lambda^2 \frac{1}{2} \pi^{\frac{3}{2}} n (N - n) \frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]} .$$
(7.5)

The above expression gives the lifting to order $O(\lambda^2)$ for the case where we have N copies of the seed c = 6 CFT, and n of these are excited by application of the



Figure 6. A total of N singly wound copies that have been linked into $\frac{N}{k}$ 'multiwound' copies each of winding k. A number n of these twisted sets have been excited by current operators.

operator $\mathcal{J}^{(+,m)}$ (eq. (5.2)) which is composed of *m* currents. We note that N = 2 and n = 1 corresponds to the case studied in section 5, see eq. (5.50).

8 Multi-wound initial states

So far our initial state has consisted of N singly-wound copies of the seed c = 6 CFT. We now consider the case where we link together k of these copies to make a 'multi-wound copy'. We assume that all copies are grouped into such sets; i.e. there are $\frac{N}{k}$ sets of linked copies, with each set having winding k. Note that this requires that N be divisible by k. This case is depicted in figure 6.

For the case where the copies are singly-wound, the ground state of each copy was the vacuum $|0\rangle$ with h = j = 0. A set of linked copies, however, has a nontrivial dimension, see, e.g. [47] for the computation of the ground state energies in both odd and even twisted sectors. We start with each set being in a chiral primary state $|k\rangle$ with

$$h = \frac{k-1}{2}, \quad j = \frac{k-1}{2}, \quad \bar{h} = \frac{k-1}{2}, \quad \bar{j} = \frac{k-1}{2}.$$
 (8.1)

We now take n of these linked sets, and excite each of these by the application of current operators:

$$|k\rangle_{ex} \equiv J^{+}_{-\frac{(2m-1)}{k}} \dots J^{+}_{-\frac{3}{k}} J^{+}_{-\frac{1}{k}} |k\rangle .$$
(8.2)

This excitation adds a momentum

$$\frac{1}{k} + \frac{3}{k} + \dots + \frac{(2m-1)}{k} = \frac{m^2}{k}$$
(8.3)

to this set of linked copies. This momentum must be an integer [49], so m^2 should be divisible by k.

We wish to find the expectation value of the energy of the state constructed in this way, see eq. (2.54). It turns out that this computation is related to the ones we performed in the above sections by having multiply wound copies in the initial state instead of singly-wound copies. We will now see that we obtain the expectation value for the multi-wound case by going to a covering space of the cylinder, where we undo the multi-winding, and then relating the computation to the singly-wound case.

8.1 The action of the twist operator

Consider the action of the first twist operator $\sigma^+_{(i)(j)}$. There are two possibilities:

- (i) The copies i, j are from the same set of linked copies.
- (ii) The copies i, j belong to different sets of linked copies.

In case (i), the twist will break up the set of linked copies into two sets with windings k', k - k'. Since we are computing an expectation value, the second twist has to link these two sets back to a single set of k linked copies.

But we can easily see that such an action of twist operators will give no contribution to the expectation value, $\langle E^{(2)} \rangle$. The set of linked copies that we started with could be either unexcited, i.e. in the state $|k\rangle$ (8.1), or excited, i.e. in the state $|k\rangle_{ex}$ (8.2). The copies other than the ones in our set of k linked copies play no role in the computation. Thus, the action of the two deformation operators tells us the correction $E^{(2)}$ to $|k\rangle$ or $|k\rangle_{ex}$. But $|k\rangle$ is a chiral primary state; this means that its dimension is determined by its charge and so its anomalous dimension $E^{(2)}$ will have to vanish. The state $|k\rangle_{ex}$ arises from a spectral flow of $|k\rangle$, so again its anomalous dimension will vanish. Thus we get no contributions from the case (i).

In case (ii), the first twist takes the two sets of k linked copies and joins them into one set of 2k linked copies. Since we are looking for an expectation value, the second twist must break up this set of 2k linked copies back to two sets of copies with linking k each. This is the situation that we will analyze in more detail now.

8.2 The k-fold cover of the cylinder

Since each set of linked copies has winding number k, we can go to a covering space of the cylinder where the spatial coordinate $\tilde{\sigma}$ runs over the range $0 \leq \tilde{\sigma} < 2\pi k$. It is convenient to think of the range of $\tilde{\sigma}$ to be subdivided into the k intervals

$$0 \le \tilde{\sigma} < 2\pi, \quad 2\pi \le \tilde{\sigma} < 4\pi, \quad \dots \quad 2\pi(k-1) \le \tilde{\sigma} < 2\pi k \;. \tag{8.4}$$

We have not changed the time τ in going to the cover, so we have

$$\tilde{\tau} = \tau \ . \tag{8.5}$$

Now we look at the factors emerging from going to this cover:

(i) For the first set of linked copies, we label the copies 1, 2, ..., k. For the second set, we label them 1', 2', ..., k'. Then the first twist operator has the form σ⁺_{(i)(j')}, where i is from the first set and j' is from the second set. Suppose we consider a twist at the point σ = 0. Then there are k² ways of joining the two sets into one set of 2k linked copies.

On the covering space $\tilde{\sigma}$, there are k images of the point $\sigma = 0$, and we can apply a twist at any of these points. Thus we get k rather than k^2 similar interaction points. Thus we must multiply the result we get from the covering space by an extra factor

k.(The origin of this factor can be understood alternatively as follows: we can choose any of the copies i = 1, ..., k to be the first copy i = 1, and use this to set the origin $\tilde{\sigma} = 0$; the factor k then describes the different ways we can choose the copy i' = 1from the second set of k linked copies.)

(ii) The second twist acts on a set of 2k linked copies labeled by $i = 1, \dots, 2k$. Suppose this twist is at the location $\sigma = 0$ on the cylinder. This time there are only k possible ways for the twist to act: once we choose one of the copies i, the second copy must be i' = i + k, since otherwise the set will not break up into two sets of winding k each. Because the twist is symmetric between i and i', the different possibilities are given by choosing $i = 1, \dots k$; i.e., there are k possible choices.

We now see that on the covering space $\tilde{\sigma}$, these k different choices are accounted for by the k different images of $\sigma = 0$ on the space $\tilde{\sigma}$. Thus there is no additional factor (analogous to case (i)) from the second twist.

(iii) We now make a conformal map from the covering space $\tilde{\sigma}, \tilde{\tau}$ to a cylinder where the spatial coordinate has the usual range $(0, 2\pi)$:

$$\sigma' = \frac{1}{k} \,\tilde{\sigma} \,, \qquad \tau' = \frac{1}{k} \,\tilde{\tau} \,. \tag{8.6}$$

Under this map the deformation operators scale as

$$D(\tilde{w}_1, \bar{\tilde{w}}_1) \to \frac{1}{k^2} D(w'_1, \bar{w'}_1), \quad D(\tilde{w}_2, \bar{\tilde{w}}_2) \to \frac{1}{k^2} D(w'_2, \bar{w'}_2),$$
(8.7)

so we get an overal factor of $\frac{1}{k^4}$ from this scaling.

(iv) Let us now recall the computation of the amplitude $A^{(2)}(T)$ in subsection 2.2, see eqs. (2.33) and (2.53). This amplitude involved integrals over the positions w_1, w_2 of the two deformation operators. (We later recast these integrals in the form of contour integrals in eq. (2.53), but it is simpler to see the scalings in terms of the original integrals in eq. (2.33)). We have

$$\int d^2 \tilde{w}_1 \to k^2 \int d^2 w'_1 \,, \qquad \int d^2 \tilde{w}_2 \to k^2 \int d^2 w'_2 \,, \tag{8.8}$$

so we obtain a overall factor of k^4 .

(v) The integral over $\Delta \tilde{w} = (\tilde{w}_2 - \tilde{w}_1)$ converges, but the integral over $s = \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{w}_1 + \tilde{w}_2)$ gives a factor of \tilde{T} . We need to multiply by a factor $\frac{1}{\tilde{T}}$, which scales as

$$\frac{1}{\tilde{T}} \to \frac{1}{k} \frac{1}{T'} . \tag{8.9}$$

(vi) We have now mapped the problem to the cylinder w', which is just like the cylinder w which worked with in the situation with k = 1. Collecting all the factors we obtained from (i)–(v) above, we find that the factors of k cancel out. We thus find the following:

suppose we have $N = n_1 n_5$ copies of the CFT. These copies are grouped into $\frac{N}{k}$ sets of copies, with each set having k linked copies. A number $0 \le n \le \frac{N}{k}$ of these sets is excited in the form $|k\rangle_{ex}$, while the remainder are in the state $|k\rangle$. Then the lifting of the energy is given by

$$\langle (E - E_{\text{orbifold}}) \rangle = \lambda^2 \frac{\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2} n(N - n) \frac{\Gamma[m^2 - \frac{1}{2}]}{\Gamma[m^2 - 1]} .$$
 (8.10)

The above expression gives the lifting to order $O(\lambda^2)$ for the case where we have N copies of the c = 6 CFT, with these copies being grouped into $\frac{N}{k}$ sets (with N being divisible by k) with each set having winding k. Of these sets, n are excited in the form (8.2) which describes the action of m fractionally moded currents.

9 The maximally wound sector

We have computed the lifting of certain states which are excited on the left, but are a chiral primary on the right. Apart from special cases this lifting was found to be nonzero. In [21], the lifting of a more general class of states was computed in a certain approximation; again it was found that generic states were lifted.

Let us analyze this lifting in the context of the elliptic genus [50] which tells us how many unlifted states we expect at a given energy for the left movers. The elliptic genus for the case where the compactification was $K3 \times S^1$ was computed in [51, 52]. The elliptic genus vanishes for the compactification $T^4 \times S^1$ that we have considered, but a modified index was defined in [53]. This index protects very few states for low levels of the left moving energy. Thus in the Ramond (R) sector, there are very few unlifted states for

$$h \le \frac{N}{4} \ . \tag{9.1}$$

But for $h > \frac{N}{4}$ the number of states that are unlifted is very large; in fact their number \mathcal{N} has to reproduce the black hole entropy which behaves as

$$S = \ln \mathcal{N} \approx 2\pi \sqrt{Nh} \ . \tag{9.2}$$

Thus we need to ask: what changes when we cross the threshold $h = \frac{N}{4}$? Since we have been working in the NS sector, let us first spectral flow to the NS sector. Consider the R sector ground state with maximal twist k = N. This state has dimension

$$h = \frac{c}{24} = \frac{N}{4} \ . \tag{9.3}$$

and charge $j = \pm \frac{1}{2}$; let us take $j = -\frac{1}{2}$. The spectral flow of this state to the NS sector gives a chiral primary with

$$h = j = \frac{N-1}{2} \ . \tag{9.4}$$

This is the state $|k\rangle$ we defined above with k = N. We can obtain states contributing to the entropy (9.2) by acting with left moving creation and annihilation operators on $|N\rangle$.

Let us now ask if there is a special property shared by states in the maximally wound sector, which is not present for states in sectors where we do not have maximal winding. We will now argue that there is indeed such a property: the nature of the linkage that is produced by the action of twists.

If a state is not in the maximally wound sector, then the twist $\sigma_{(i)(j)}$ present in the deformation operator can do one of two things:

- (i) It can join two different set of linked copies, with windings k_1, k_2 , into one linked copy with winding $k_1 + k_2$. The second deformation operator will break this back to two sets with windings k_1, k_2 , since we are computing an expectation value and so need the final state to be the same as the initial state.
- (ii) If we have a subset of strings with winding $k_1 + k_2 > 1$, then it can break this subset into two sets of linked copies, with windings k_1, k_2 . The second deformation operator will join these sets back to one set with winding $k_1 + k_2$.

If on the other hand we have a state in the maximally wound sector, then there are no other sets of copies in the state; thus we are allowed possibility (ii) but not possibility (i).

We must now ask if there is a difference in the action of the deformation operators in the cases (i) and (ii). We will see that there is indeed a difference: in case (i), the covering space obtained when we 'undo' the twist operators is a sphere (genus g = 0), while in case (ii) the covering space is a torus (genus g = 1).

To see this, we recall how we compute the genus of the covering space obtained from undoing the action of twist operators [46]. Suppose we have twists of order k_i , $i = 1, ..., i_{\text{max}}$. The ramification order at a twist σ_{k_i} is $r_i = k_i - 1$. Let the number of sheets (i.e. copies) over a generic point be s. Then the genus of the covering surface is given by the Riemann-Hurwitz relation

$$g = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} r_i - s + 1 .$$
 (9.5)

Let us now compute g in the two cases above. We focus only on the copies which are involved in the interaction:

(i') In case (i), we create the initial set of linked strings using twist operators $\sigma_{k_1}, \sigma_{k_2}$. The final state is created by the twists of the same order. The two deformation operators carry twists σ_2 each. The number of sheets is $s = k_1 + k_2$. Thus

$$g = \frac{1}{2}[2(k_1 - 1) + 2(k_2 - 1) + 2] - (k_1 + k_2) + 1 = 0.$$
(9.6)

(ii') In case (ii), we create the initial state by a twist $\sigma_{k_1+k_2}$. The final state is created by a twist of the same order. The two deformation operators carry twists σ_2 each. The number of sheets is $s = k_1 + k_2$. Thus

$$g = \frac{1}{2}[2(k_1 + k_2 - 1) + 2] - (k_1 + k_2) + 1 = 1.$$
(9.7)

In the present paper we have considered an example of case (i), where the covering space t was a sphere. In this situation we found that the lift $\langle E^{(2)} \rangle$ was nonzero. It is possible that when the covering space is a torus, then the lift vanishes, at least for some class of states. If that happens, then such states in the maximally wound sector will not be lifted. We hope to return to this issue elsewhere.

10 Discussion

We have considered the family of states depicted in figure 1, and computed the correction to the expectation value of their energy - the 'lift' - upto second order in the deformation parameter λ . The results, depicted in figure 2, suggest a heuristic picture for this lift; this picture was discussed in section 1.2.

We know that the lift vanishes in two extreme cases: (i) when no copies are excited and (ii) when all copies are excited. (The state in (ii) is just a spectral flow of the state in (i).) But in between these two extremes, the energy does rise. The heuristic picture aims to explain this phenomenon as follows.

Each set of linked copies corresponds, in this heuristic picture, to one elementary object in the dual gravity configuration. The excitations (3.8) for m > 1 do not correspond to supergravity quanta; thus we must think of them as 'string' states. String states will have more mass than charge, and will therefore 'lift'. But the gravitational attraction between the strings will cause the overall energy to reduce. If we have enough strings so that all the copies in the CFT are excited, then the negative potential energy cancels the energy from string tension, and we end up with no lift.

We noted in section 8 that this picture holds also for the case where the copies of the c = 6 CFT are linked together in sets of k copies each. Thus if none of these sets is excited then we have no lift, and again if all the sets are excited we have no lift. But when some of the sets are excited, then we do have a lift in general.

Now consider the limiting case where *all* the *N* copies of the CFT are linked into one copy with winding k = N. If we excite this multi-wound set, then we have excited *all* the sets, since there is only one set to excite. If we extrapolate our heuristic picture above to this limiting case, then we see that the energy lift of this string state will be cancelled by the self-gravitation of the state, and the state will not lift at all. This suggests that states in the maximally wound sector will not lift.⁴ This is interesting, because we know that at high energies we have to reproduce the large entropy of the extremal hole [1], so we need a large class of states that will not lift.

This picture also tells us how we should think about states in the fuzzball paradigm. There are certainly some states in general winding sectors that are not lifted, and the gravity description of many of these states have been constructed. But as we have seen, many states *will* lift. The fuzzball paradigm says that *all* states are fuzzballs; i.e., they have no regular horizon. Thus the class of states obtained in the fuzzball construction will in general cover both extremal and non-extremal states. It turns out that it is often

 $^{{}^{4}}$ It has been argued earlier [54] that states relevant for the dynamics of the *near-extremal* hole should be in the highly wound sectors.

easier to take a limit where the non-extremal states are in fact near-extremal. We can then look for the subclass of extremal states as limits of the construction that gives the near-extremal states.

We also note that one should not make a sharp distinction between 'supergravity' states and 'stringy' states. In figure 2 the state with n = 0 is a supergravity state with no strings. As n rises, we add more and more strings, but at n = N this collection of strings again behaves like a supergravity state with no lift.

In [21], the lifting of D1D5P states was computed in the pp-wave limit. In this computation, one component string is taken to have a large winding k, while the other component strings are singly wound. Only the multiwound string is taken to have excitations. One takes the approximation $1 \ll k \ll N$. In this limit, for low lying excitation levels, the lifting is a sum of liftings for each individual excitation on the multiwound component string. For an excitation of the form $J_{-\frac{l}{r}}^{-1}$, the lifting is

$$\Delta h \approx \frac{1}{2} g_s^2 Q_5^2 \left(\frac{l}{k}\right)^2 \tag{10.1}$$

where g_s is the string coupling and Q_5 is the number of D5 branes. We find, for the scaling with N (and using the coupling λ that we have assumed)

$$\delta h \sim \lambda^2 N \tag{10.2}$$

We cannot compare this directly to our results, since we have taken all component strings to have the same winding k. We can get some rough comparison, however, by taking (8.2) and setting n = 1; i.e., only one component string is excited. We see from (8.10) that the combinatorial factor is $n(N - n) \approx N$ for this case. Together with the coupling constant, we find a lift that is $\delta h \sim \lambda^2 N$, in rough agreement with (10.2). We hope to study the lifting of more general states elsewhere, and then a more accurate comparison to (10.1) should be possible.

We have suggested above that a large class of extremal states might lie in the maximally wound sector. We noted in section 8 that the $O(\lambda^2)$ lift of such states has contributions only from genus 1 covering surfaces while states with lower winding have both genus 0 and genus 1 contributions; this fact may be relevant to the relation between lifting and maximal winding. But maximally wound sectors are difficult to study in the classical limit: the classical limit corresponds to $N \to \infty$, and a winding k = N will typically produce a conical defect with conical angle $1/k = 1/N \to 0$ [56–58]. Thus such states should be thought of as limits of states with finite k. If the general k states are near-extremal, and the k = N state is extremal, then the extremal state can be seen as a limit of a family of near-extremal states.

Finally, we note that we have considered only a special family of D1-D5-P states in this paper. It is of interest to ask if there is a general characterization of which D1-D5-P states lift and which do not. We hope to study this issue elsewhere.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Shouvik Datta, Lorenz Eberhardt, Matthias Gaberdiel, Christoph Keller, Alessandro Sfondrini, and David Turton for helpful discussions. We especially thank Stefano Giusto and Rodolfo Russo for extended discussions on this problem. IGZ thanks the STAG Research Centre at Southampton University for hospitality and the organisers of the *Workshop on holography, gauge theories and black holes* for the stimulating environment. The work of SH and SDM is supported in part by the DOE grant DE-SC0011726. The work of IGZ is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation through the NCCR SwissMAP.

A Notation and conventions

A.1 Field definitions

Here we give the notation and conventions used in our computations. We have 4 real left moving fermions $\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3, \psi_4$ which are groupped into doublets $\psi^{\alpha A}$ as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi^{++} \\ \psi^{-+} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 + i\psi_2 \\ \psi_3 + i\psi_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.1)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \psi^{+-} \\ \psi^{--} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_3 - i\psi_4 \\ -(\psi_1 - i\psi_2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.2)

The index $\alpha = (+, -)$ corresponds to the subgroup $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ of rotations on S^3 and the index A = (+, -) corresponds to the subgroup $\mathrm{SU}(2)_1$ from rotations in T^4 . The 2-point functions read

$$\langle \psi^{\alpha A}(z)\psi^{\beta B}(w)\rangle = -\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{AB}\frac{1}{z-w}$$
 (A.3)

where we have

$$\epsilon_{12} = 1, \quad \epsilon^{12} = -1 \tag{A.4}$$

The 4 real left-moving bosons X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4 are grouped into a matrix

$$X_{A\dot{A}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} X_i \sigma_i = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} X_3 + iX_4 & X_1 - iX_2 \\ X_1 + iX_2 & -X_3 + iX_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.5)

where $\sigma_i = (\sigma_a, iI)$. The bosonic field 2-point functions are then of the form

$$\langle \partial X_{A\dot{A}}(z)\partial X_{B\dot{B}}(w)\rangle = \epsilon_{AB}\epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\frac{1}{(z-w)^2}.$$
 (A.6)

The chiral algebra is generated by the R-currents, supercurrents, and the stress-energy tensor:

$$J^{a} = \frac{1}{4} \epsilon_{\alpha\gamma} \epsilon_{AC} \psi^{\gamma C} (\sigma^{Ta})^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \psi^{\beta A}, \qquad a = 1, 2, 3$$

$$G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}} = \psi^{\alpha A} \partial X_{A\dot{A}}, \qquad \alpha = +, -$$

$$T = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{AB} \epsilon^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \partial X_{B\dot{B}} \partial X_{A\dot{A}} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{AB} \psi^{\beta B} \partial \psi^{\alpha A} \qquad (A.7)$$

A.2 OPE algebra

We note the OPEs between the various operators of interest.

A.2.1 OPE's of currents with $\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(z)$ and $\psi^{\alpha A}(z)$

$$T(z)\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(w) \sim \frac{\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial^2 X_{A\dot{A}}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$T(z)\psi^{\alpha A}(w) \sim \frac{\frac{1}{2}\psi^{\alpha A}(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial\psi^{\alpha A}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(z)\psi^{\beta B}(w) \sim \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{BA}\frac{\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(z)\partial X_{B\dot{B}}(w) \sim \epsilon_{AB}\epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\frac{\psi^{\alpha A}(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \epsilon_{AB}\epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}\frac{\partial\psi^{\alpha A}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$J^{a}(z)\psi^{\alpha A}(w) \sim \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{z-w}(\sigma^{Ta})^{\alpha}_{\beta}\psi^{\beta A}(w)$$

$$J^{+}(z)\psi^{+A}(w) = 0, \qquad J^{-}(z)\psi^{+A}(w) = \frac{\psi^{-A}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$J^{+}(z)\psi^{-A}(w) = \frac{\psi^{+A}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad J^{-}(z)\psi^{-A}(w) = 0 \qquad (A.8)$$

A.2.2 OPE's of currents with currents

$$\begin{split} T(z)T(w) &\sim \frac{\frac{c}{2}}{(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w} \\ J^a(z)J^b(w) &\sim \frac{\frac{c}{12}\delta^{ab}}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{i\epsilon^{ab}_c J^c(w)}{z-w} \\ G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(z)G^{\beta}_{\dot{B}}(w) &\sim -\epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \bigg[\epsilon^{\beta\alpha} \frac{\frac{c}{3}}{(z-w)^3} + \epsilon^{\beta\gamma} (\sigma^{aT})^{\alpha}_{\gamma} \bigg(\frac{2J^a(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial J^a(w)}{z-w} \bigg) + \epsilon^{\beta\alpha} \frac{1}{z-w} T(w) \bigg] \\ J^a(z)G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(w) &\sim \frac{1}{z-w} \frac{1}{2} (\sigma^{aT})^{\alpha}_{\beta} G^{\beta}_{\dot{A}}(w) \\ T(z)J^a(w) &\sim \frac{J^a(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial J^a(w)}{z-w} \\ T(z)G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(w) &\sim \frac{\frac{3}{2}G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(w)}{z-w} \end{split}$$
(A.9)

We convert the relations involving J^1, J^2 to those involving J^+, J^- . Defining J^+, J^- as

$$J^{+} = J^{1} + iJ^{2}$$

$$J^{-} = J^{1} - iJ^{2}$$
(A.10)

yield the following OPE's

$$J^{+}(z)J^{-}(w) \sim \frac{\frac{c}{6}}{(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{2J^{3}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad J^{-}(z)J^{+}(w) \sim \frac{\frac{c}{6}}{(z-w)^{2}} - \frac{2J^{3}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$J^{3}(z)J^{+}(w) \sim \frac{J^{+}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad J^{3}(z)J^{-}(w) \sim -\frac{J^{-}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$J^{+}(z)J^{3}(w) \sim -\frac{J^{+}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad J^{-}(z)J^{3}(w) \sim \frac{J^{-}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$T(z)J^{+}(w) \sim \frac{J^{+}(w)}{(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{\partial J^{+}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad T(z)J^{-}(w) \sim \frac{J^{-}(w)}{(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{\partial J^{-}(w)}{z-w}$$

$$J^{+}(z)G^{-}_{\dot{A}}(w) \sim \frac{G^{+}_{\dot{A}}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad J^{-}(z)G^{+}_{\dot{A}}(w) \sim \frac{G^{-}_{\dot{A}}(w)}{z-w}$$
(A.11)

A.3 Mode and contour definitions of the fields

The modes are defined in terms of contours through

$$L_{m} = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{m+1} T(z)$$

$$J_{m}^{a} = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{m} J^{a}(z)$$

$$G_{\dot{A},r}^{\alpha} = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{r+\frac{1}{2}} G_{\dot{A}}^{\alpha}(z)$$

$$\alpha_{A\dot{A},m} = i \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{m} \partial X_{A\dot{A}}(z)$$

$$d_{r}^{\alpha A} = \oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{r-\frac{1}{2}} \psi^{\alpha A}(z)$$
(A.12)

The inverse relations are

$$T(z) = \sum_{m} z^{-m-2} L_{m}$$

$$J^{a}(z) = \sum_{m} z^{-m-1} J^{a}_{m}$$

$$G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A}}(z) = \sum_{r} z^{-r-\frac{3}{2}} G^{\alpha}_{\dot{A},r}$$

$$\partial X_{A\dot{A}}(z) = -i \sum_{m} z^{-m-1} \alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$$

$$\psi^{\alpha A}(z) = \sum_{m} z^{-m-\frac{1}{2}} d^{\alpha A}_{m}$$
(A.13)

A.4 Commutation relations

A.4.1 Commutators of $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$

$$\begin{aligned} [\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}, \alpha_{B\dot{B},n}] &= -m\epsilon_{A\dot{A}}\epsilon_{B\dot{B}}\delta_{m+n,0} \\ [d_r^{\alpha A}, d_s^{\beta B}] &= -\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{AB}\delta_{r+s,0} \end{aligned}$$
(A.14)

A.4.2 Commutators of currents with $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$

$$\begin{split} [L_m, \alpha_{A\dot{A},n}] &= -n\alpha_{A\dot{A},m+n} \\ [L_m, d_r^{\alpha A}] &= -\left(\frac{m}{2} + r\right) d_{m+r}^{\alpha A} \\ \{G_{\dot{A},r}^{\alpha}, d_s^{\beta B}\} &= i\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{AB}\alpha_{A\dot{A},r+s} \\ [G_{\dot{A},r}^{\alpha}, \alpha_{B\dot{B},m}] &= -im\epsilon_{AB}\epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}}d_{r+m}^{\alpha A} \\ [J_m^{\alpha}, d_r^{\alpha A}] &= \frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{Ta})^{\alpha}_{\beta}d_{m+r}^{\beta A} \\ [J_m^{-}, d_r^{+A}] &= 0, \qquad [J_m^{-}, d_r^{+A}] = d_{m+r}^{-A} \\ [J_m^{-}, d_r^{+A}] &= d_{m+r}^{-A}, \qquad [J_m^{+}, d_r^{+A}] = 0 \end{split}$$
(A.15)

A.4.3 Commutators of currents with currents

$$\begin{split} [L_m, L_n] &= \frac{c}{12} m(m^2 - 1) \delta_{m+n,0} + (m - n) L_{m+n} \\ [J_m^a, J_n^b] &= \frac{c}{12} m \delta^{ab} \delta_{m+n,0} + i \epsilon^{ab}_{c} J_{m+n}^c \\ \{G_{\dot{A},r}^\alpha, G_{\dot{B},s}^\beta\} &= \epsilon_{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \left[\epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \frac{c}{6} \left(r^2 - \frac{1}{4} \right) \delta_{r+s,0} + (\sigma^{aT})^{\alpha}_{\gamma} \epsilon^{\gamma\beta} (r - s) J_{r+s}^a + \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} L_{r+s} \right] \\ [J_m^a, G_{\dot{A},r}^\alpha] &= \frac{1}{2} (\sigma^{aT})^{\alpha}_{\beta} G_{\dot{A},m+r}^\beta \\ [L_m, J_n^a] &= -n J_{m+n}^a \\ [L_m, G_{\dot{A},r}^\alpha] &= \left(\frac{m}{2} - r \right) G_{\dot{A},m+r}^\alpha \\ [J_m^+, J_n^-] &= \frac{c}{6} m \delta_{m+n,0} + 2 J_{m+n}^3 \\ [L_m, J_n^+] &= -n J_{m+n}^+, \qquad [L_m, J_n^-] &= -n J_{m+n}^- \\ [J_m^+, G_{\dot{A},r}^+] &= 0, \qquad [J_m^-, G_{\dot{A},r}^+] &= G_{\dot{A},m+r}^- \\ [J_m^+, G_{\dot{A},r}^-] &= G_{\dot{A},m+r}^+, \qquad [J_m^-, G_{\dot{A},r}^-] &= 0 \\ [J_m^3, J_n^+] &= J_{m+n}^+, \qquad [J_m^3, J_n^-] &= -J_{m+n}^- \end{array}$$
(A.16)

A.5 Current modes written in terms of $\alpha_{A\dot{A},m}$ and $d_r^{\alpha A}$

$$J_{m}^{a} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{r} \epsilon_{AB} d_{r}^{\gamma B} \epsilon_{\alpha \gamma} (\sigma^{aT})_{\beta}^{\alpha} d_{m-r}^{\beta A}, \qquad a = 1, 2, 3$$

$$J_{m}^{3} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{r} d_{r}^{++} d_{m-r}^{--} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{r} d_{r}^{-+} d_{m-r}^{+-}$$

$$J_{m}^{+} = \sum_{r} d_{r}^{++} d_{m-r}^{+-}, \qquad J_{m}^{-} = \sum_{r} d_{r}^{--} d_{m-r}^{-+}$$

$$G_{\dot{A},r}^{\alpha} = -i \sum_{n} d_{r-n}^{\alpha A} \alpha_{A\dot{A},n}$$

$$L_{m} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{n} \epsilon^{AB} \epsilon^{\dot{A}\dot{B}} \alpha_{A\dot{A},n} \alpha_{B\dot{B},m-n} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{r} \left(m - r + \frac{1}{2}\right) \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon_{AB} d_{r}^{\alpha A} d_{m-r}^{\beta B} \quad (A.17)$$

B Spectral flow

In this appendix we review the rules for spectral flow transformations [55]. Under spectral flow by α units, the dimension, h, and the charge, j, transform like

$$h' = h + \alpha j + \frac{c\alpha^2}{24}, \qquad j' = j + \frac{\alpha c}{12},$$
 (B.1)

where c is the central charge of the CFT. Consider an operator $\mathcal{O}(z)$ of charge q. Under spectral flow by α units at a point z_0 , the operator transforms as

$$\mathcal{O}(z) \to (z - z_0)^{-\alpha q} O(z)$$
 (B.2)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [INSPIRE].
- [2] C.G. Callan and J.M. Maldacena, D-brane approach to black hole quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 472 (1996) 591 [hep-th/9602043] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S.R. Das and S.D. Mathur, Comparing decay rates for black holes and D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 478 (1996) 561 [hep-th/9606185] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J.M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, Black hole grey body factors and D-brane spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 861 [hep-th/9609026] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [7] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Vafa, Instantons on D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 463 (1996) 435 [hep-th/9512078] [INSPIRE].
- [9] R. Dijkgraaf, Instanton strings and hyperKähler geometry, Nucl. Phys. B 543 (1999) 545 [hep-th/9810210] [INSPIRE].
- [10] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, The D1/D5 system and singular CFT, JHEP 04 (1999) 017 [hep-th/9903224] [INSPIRE].
- F. Larsen and E.J. Martinec, U(1) charges and moduli in the D1-D5 system, JHEP 06 (1999) 019 [hep-th/9905064] [INSPIRE].
- [12] G.E. Arutyunov and S.A. Frolov, Virasoro amplitude from the $S^N R^{24}$ orbifold σ -model, Theor. Math. Phys. **114** (1998) 43 [hep-th/9708129] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G.E. Arutyunov and S.A. Frolov, Four graviton scattering amplitude from $S^N R^8$ supersymmetric orbifold σ -model, Nucl. Phys. **B 524** (1998) 159 [hep-th/9712061] [INSPIRE].

- [14] A. Jevicki, M. Mihailescu and S. Ramgoolam, Gravity from CFT on S^Nb(X): Symmetries and interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 577 (2000) 47 [hep-th/9907144] [INSPIRE].
- [15] J.R. David, G. Mandal and S.R. Wadia, Microscopic formulation of black holes in string theory, Phys. Rept. 369 (2002) 549 [hep-th/0203048] [INSPIRE].
- [16] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, AdS/CFT duality and the black hole information paradox, Nucl. Phys. B 623 (2002) 342 [hep-th/0109154] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S.D. Mathur, The Fuzzball proposal for black holes: An Elementary review, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 793 [hep-th/0502050] [INSPIRE].
- [18] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Fuzzballs with internal excitations, JHEP 06 (2007) 056 [arXiv:0704.0690] [INSPIRE].
- [19] I. Bena and N.P. Warner, Black holes, black rings and their microstates, Lect. Notes Phys. 755 (2008) 1 [hep-th/0701216] [INSPIRE].
- [20] B.D. Chowdhury and A. Virmani, Modave Lectures on Fuzzballs and Emission from the D1-D5 System, in 5th Modave Summer School in Mathematical Physics Modave, Belgium, August 17-21, 2009, 2010, arXiv:1001.1444 [INSPIRE].
- [21] E. Gava and K.S. Narain, Proving the PP wave/CFT(2) duality, JHEP 12 (2002) 023
 [hep-th/0208081] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Pakman, L. Rastelli and S.S. Razamat, *Diagrams for Symmetric Product Orbifolds*, *JHEP* 10 (2009) 034 [arXiv:0905.3448] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Pakman, L. Rastelli and S.S. Razamat, Extremal Correlators and Hurwitz Numbers in Symmetric Product Orbifolds, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 086009 [arXiv:0905.3451] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Pakman, L. Rastelli and S.S. Razamat, A Spin Chain for the Symmetric Product CFT(2), JHEP 05 (2010) 099 [arXiv:0912.0959] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S.G. Avery, B.D. Chowdhury and S.D. Mathur, Deforming the D1D5 CFT away from the orbifold point, JHEP 06 (2010) 031 [arXiv:1002.3132] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S.G. Avery, B.D. Chowdhury and S.D. Mathur, *Excitations in the deformed D1D5 CFT*, *JHEP* 06 (2010) 032 [arXiv:1003.2746] [INSPIRE].
- [27] B.A. Burrington, A.W. Peet and I.G. Zadeh, Operator mixing for string states in the D1-D5 CFT near the orbifold point, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 106001 [arXiv:1211.6699] [INSPIRE].
- [28] B.A. Burrington, A.W. Peet and I.G. Zadeh, Twist-nontwist correlators in M^N/S_N orbifold CFTs, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 106008 [arXiv:1211.6689] [INSPIRE].
- [29] B.A. Burrington, S.D. Mathur, A.W. Peet and I.G. Zadeh, Analyzing the squeezed state generated by a twist deformation, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 124072 [arXiv:1410.5790]
 [INSPIRE].
- [30] M.R. Gaberdiel, C. Peng and I.G. Zadeh, *Higgsing the stringy higher spin symmetry*, *JHEP* 10 (2015) 101 [arXiv:1506.02045] [INSPIRE].
- [31] B.A. Burrington, I.T. Jardine and A.W. Peet, Operator mixing in deformed D1D5 CFT and the OPE on the cover, JHEP 06 (2017) 149 [arXiv:1703.04744] [INSPIRE].
- [32] Z. Carson, S. Hampton and S.D. Mathur, Full action of two deformation operators in the D1D5 CFT, JHEP 11 (2017) 096 [arXiv:1612.03886] [INSPIRE].

- [33] Z. Carson, S. Hampton and S.D. Mathur, One-Loop Transition Amplitudes in the D1D5 CFT, JHEP 01 (2017) 006 [arXiv:1606.06212] [INSPIRE].
- [34] Z. Carson, S. Hampton and S.D. Mathur, Second order effect of twist deformations in the D1D5 CFT, JHEP 04 (2016) 115 [arXiv:1511.04046] [INSPIRE].
- [35] Z. Carson, S. Hampton, S.D. Mathur and D. Turton, Effect of the deformation operator in the D1D5 CFT, JHEP 01 (2015) 071 [arXiv:1410.4543] [INSPIRE].
- [36] Z. Carson, S.D. Mathur and D. Turton, Bogoliubov coefficients for the twist operator in the D1D5 CFT, Nucl. Phys. B 889 (2014) 443 [arXiv:1406.6977] [INSPIRE].
- [37] Z. Carson, S. Hampton, S.D. Mathur and D. Turton, Effect of the twist operator in the D1D5 CFT, JHEP 08 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1405.0259] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L.P. Kadanoff, Multicritical Behavior at the Kosterlitz-Thouless Critical Point, Ann. Phys. 120 (1979) 39.
- [39] R. Dijkgraaf, E.P. Verlinde and H.L. Verlinde, On Moduli Spaces Of Conformal Field Theories With $C \ge 1$, in Proceedings of Perspectives in string theory, Copenhagen Denmark (1987), pg. 117.
- [40] J.L. Cardy, Continuously Varying Exponents and the Value of the Central Charge, J. Phys. A 20 (1987) L891 [INSPIRE].
- [41] H. Eberle, Twistfield perturbations of vertex operators in the Z(2) orbifold model, JHEP 06 (2002) 022 [hep-th/0103059] [INSPIRE].
- [42] H. Eberle, Twistfield perturbations of vertex operators in the Z(2) orbifold model, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Bonn, Bonn Germany (2006).
- [43] M.R. Gaberdiel, A. Konechny and C. Schmidt-Colinet, Conformal perturbation theory beyond the leading order, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 105402 [arXiv:0811.3149] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Berenstein and A. Miller, Conformal perturbation theory, dimensional regularization and AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 086011 [arXiv:1406.4142] [INSPIRE].
- [45] D. Berenstein and A. Miller, Logarithmic enhancements in conformal perturbation theory and their real time interpretation, arXiv:1607.01922 [INSPIRE].
- [46] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, Correlation functions for M(N)/S(N) orbifolds, Commun. Math. Phys. 219 (2001) 399 [hep-th/0006196] [INSPIRE].
- [47] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, Three point functions for M(N)/S(N) orbifolds with N = 4 supersymmetry, Commun. Math. Phys. **227** (2002) 385 [hep-th/0103169] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S.G. Avery, Using the D1D5 CFT to Understand Black Holes, Ph.D. Thesis, Ohio State University, Columbus U.S.A. (2010) [arXiv:1012.0072] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S.R. Das and S.D. Mathur, Excitations of D strings, entropy and duality, Phys. Lett. B 375 (1996) 103 [hep-th/9601152] [INSPIRE].
- [50] E. Witten, On the Landau-Ginzburg description of N = 2 minimal models, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 9 (1994) 4783 [hep-th/9304026] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J. de Boer, Large N elliptic genus and AdS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 05 (1999) 017 [hep-th/9812240] [INSPIRE].
- [52] J. de Boer, Six-dimensional supergravity on S³ × AdS₃ and 2 D conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 548 (1999) 139 [hep-th/9806104] [INSPIRE].

- [53] J.M. Maldacena, G.W. Moore and A. Strominger, *Counting BPS black holes in toroidal Type II string theory*, hep-th/9903163 [INSPIRE].
- [54] J.M. Maldacena and L. Susskind, D-branes and fat black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 475 (1996) 679 [hep-th/9604042] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Schwimmer and N. Seiberg, Comments on the N = 2, N = 3, N = 4 Superconformal Algebras in Two-Dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 184 (1987) 191 [INSPIRE].
- [56] V. Balasubramanian, J. de Boer, E. Keski-Vakkuri and S.F. Ross, Supersymmetric conical defects: Towards a string theoretic description of black hole formation, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 064011 [hep-th/0011217] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.M. Maldacena and L. Maoz, Desingularization by rotation, JHEP 12 (2002) 055 [hep-th/0012025] [INSPIRE].
- [58] S. Giusto, O. Lunin, S.D. Mathur and D. Turton, D1-D5-P microstates at the cap, JHEP 02 (2013) 050 [arXiv:1211.0306] [INSPIRE].